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PART I

Item 1. Business.
Overview

Meritor, Inc., (the "company" or "Meritor"), headquartered in Troy, Michigan, is a premier global supplier of a broad
range of integrated systems, modules and components to original equipment manufacturers (“OEMs”) and the
aftermarket for the commercial vehicle, transportation and industrial sectors. The company serves commercial truck,
trailer, military, bus and coach, construction, and other industrial OEMs and certain aftermarkets. Our principal
products are axles, undercarriages, drivelines, brakes and braking systems.

Meritor was incorporated in Indiana in 2000 in connection with the merger of Meritor Automotive, Inc. and Arvin
Industries, Inc. As used in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the terms "company," "Meritor," "we," "us" and "our"
include Meritor, its consolidated subsidiaries and its predecessors unless the context indicates otherwise.

Meritor serves a broad range of customers worldwide, including medium- and heavy-duty truck OEMs, specialty
vehicle manufacturers, certain aftermarkets, and trailer producers. Our total sales from continuing operations in fiscal
year 2014 were approximately $3.8 billion. Our ten largest customers accounted for approximately 76 percent of fiscal
year 2014 sales from continuing operations. Sales from operations outside the United States (U.S.) accounted for
approximately 61 percent of total sales from continuing operations in fiscal year 2014. Our continuing operations also
participated in 5 unconsolidated joint ventures, which we accounted for under the equity method of accounting and
that generated revenues of approximately $1.3 billion in fiscal year 2014.

The company’s fiscal year ends on the Sunday nearest to September 30. Fiscal year 2014 ended on September 28,
2014, fiscal year 2013 ended on September 29, 2013 and fiscal year 2012 ended on September 30, 2012. All year and
quarter references relate to our fiscal year and fiscal quarters unless otherwise stated. For ease of presentation,
September 30 is utilized consistently throughout this report to represent the fiscal year end.

Whenever an item in this Annual Report on Form 10-K refers to information under specific captions in Item 7.
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations or Item 8. Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data, the information is incorporated in that item by reference.

References in this Annual Report on Form 10-K to our belief that we are a leading supplier or the world's leading
supplier, and other similar statements as to our relative market position are based principally on calculations we have
made. These calculations are based on information we have collected, including company and industry sales data
obtained from internal and available external sources as well as our estimates. In addition to such quantitative data,
our statements are based on other competitive factors such as our technological capabilities, our engineering, research
and development efforts, and our innovative solutions as well as the quality of our products and services, in each case
relative to that of our competitors in the markets we address.

Sale of Mascot

On September 26, 2014, we completed the sale of our Mascot remanufacturing operations in Canada and the United
States to an entity that will operate under the name Mascot Industries LLC. All other Meritor brake and trailer axle
remanufacturing operations, as well as our distribution business, were not affected by the sale. Under the Mascot
brand, we produced all makes remanufactured differentials, transmissions and steering gears. Genuine Meritor
branded differentials and transmissions will continue to be available from Meritor. We incurred a loss on the sale of
the Mascot business of $23 million, which includes severance and other disposal costs associated with the sale of the
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Mascot business in fiscal year 2014. The financial statements and financial information included in this Form 10-K
have been recast to reflect our Mascot business as discontinued operations.

Restructuring Actions - South America Labor Reduction

On August 15, 2014, we announced a labor headcount reduction plan to manage our cost structure in South America
to address softening economic conditions. As part of these actions, we expect to eliminate approximately 190 hourly
and 20 salaried positions and incurred $7 million of restructuring costs, primarily severance benefits, in the
Commercial Truck & Industrial segment.
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Equity in Earnings of ZF Meritor

In June 2014, ZF Meritor LLC, a joint venture between ZF Friedrichshafen AG and our subsidiary, Meritor
Transmission LLC (“Meritor Transmission”), entered into a settlement agreement with Eaton Corporation relating to an
antitrust lawsuit filed by ZF Meritor in 2006. Pursuant to the terms of the settlement agreement, Eaton agreed to pay
$500 million to ZF Meritor. In July 2014, ZF Meritor received proceeds of $400 million, net of attorney's contingency
fees. In July 2014, we received proceeds of $210 million representing our share based on our ownership interest in ZF
Meritor and including a recovery of current and prior years' attorney expenses paid by Meritor. ZF Meritor and
Meritor Transmission agreed to dismiss all pending antitrust litigation with Eaton. ZF Meritor does not have any
operating activities. Our pre-tax share of the settlement was $210 million ($209 million after-tax), of which $190
million was recognized as equity in earnings of ZF Meritor and $20 million for the recovery of legal expenses from
ZF Meritor was recognized as a reduction of selling, general and administrative expenses in the consolidated
statement of operations. The proceeds from the settlement were used primarily to pre-fund mandatory pension
contributions in our U.S. and U.K. pension plans.

Our Business

Our reporting segments are as follows:

The Commercial Truck & Industrial segment supplies drivetrain systems and components, including axles, drivelines
and braking and suspension systems, for medium- and heavy-duty trucks, off-highway, military, construction, bus and
coach, fire and emergency and other applications in North America, South America, Europe and Asia-Pacific. This
segment also includes the company's aftermarket businesses in Asia-Pacific and South America; and

The Aftermarket & Trailer segment supplies axles, brakes, drivelines, suspension parts and other replacement and
remanufactured parts to commercial vehicle aftermarket customers in North America and Europe. This segment also
supplies a wide variety of undercarriage products and systems for trailer applications in North America.

See Note 23 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements under Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary
Data for financial information by segment for continuing operations for each of the three years ended September 30,
2014, including information on sales and assets by geographic area. The heading "Products" below includes
information on certain product sales for each of the three fiscal years ended September 30, 2014.

Business Strategies

We are currently a premier global supplier of a broad range of integrated systems, modules and components to OEMs
and the aftermarket for the commercial vehicle, transportation and industrial sectors, and we believe we have
market-leading positions as a leader in many of the markets we serve. We are working to enhance our leadership
positions and capitalize on our existing customer, product and geographic strengths.

During fiscal year 2015, we expect a modest increase in production volumes in North America compared to the levels
experienced in fiscal year 2014. We anticipate a significant decrease in production volumes in South America
resulting from continued economic uncertainty. We expect production volumes in Europe to soften compared to the
levels experienced in fiscal year 2014. Production volumes in China are expected to increase slightly during fiscal
year 2015 compared to levels experienced in fiscal year 2014. We expect the market in India to be up in fiscal year
2015 due to an improving economic climate.

Sales for our primary military program were at their peak during the third quarter of fiscal year 2012 and began to
decline in fiscal year 2013. The program is expected to continue to wind down in 2015. We are working to secure our
participation in new military programs with various OEMs. However, failure to secure new military contracts could
have a longer-term negative impact on our Commercial Truck and Industrial Segment. In addition, even if sales of our
military programs do return to historical levels, the profitability on these sales could be lower than what we have
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recognized in recent periods.
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Our business continues to address a number of other challenging industry-wide issues including the following:
Uncertainty around the global market outlook;
Volatility in price and availability of steel, components and other
commodities;
Disruptions in the financial markets and their impact on the availability and cost of credit;
Volatile energy and increasing transportation
costs;
{mpact of currency exchange rate volatility;
€Consolidation and globalization of OEMs and their suppliers; and
Significant pension and retiree medical health care costs.

Other

Other significant factors that could affect our results and liquidity in fiscal year 2015 and beyond include:
Significant contract awards or losses of existing contracts or failure to negotiate acceptable terms in contract renewals;
Failure to obtain new business;
Failure to secure new military contracts as our primary military program winds down;
Ability to manage possible adverse effects on our European operations, or financing arrangements related thereto, in
the event one or more countries exit the European monetary union;
Ability to work with our customers to manage rapidly changing production volumes;
Ability to recover and timing of recovery of steel price and other cost increases from our customers;
Any unplanned extended shutdowns or production interruptions by us, our customers or our suppliers;
A significant deterioration or slowdown in economic activity in the key markets in which we operate;
Any costs associated with the divesture or wind down of any portion of our businesses;
Higher-than-planned price reductions to our customers;
Potential price increases from our suppliers;
Additional restructuring actions and the timing and recognition of restructuring charges, including any actions
associated with the prolonged softness in markets in which we operate;
Higher-than-planned warranty expenses, including the outcome of known or potential recall campaigns;
Our ability to implement planned productivity, cost reduction, and other margin improvement initiatives;
Uncertainties of asbestos claim litigation and the outcome of litigation with insurance companies regarding the scope
of coverage and the long-term solvency of our insurance carriers; and
Restrictive government actions by foreign countries (such as restrictions on transfer of funds and trade
protection measures, including export duties, quotas and customs duties and tariffs).

Our specific business strategies are influenced by these industry factors and trends as well as by the recent global
economic and financial crisis and are focused on leveraging our resources to continue to develop and produce
competitive product offerings. We believe the following strategies will allow us to maintain a balanced portfolio of
commercial truck, industrial and aftermarket businesses covering key global markets. See Item 1A. Risk Factors
below for information on certain risks that could have an impact on our business, financial condition or results of
operations in the future.
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M2016 Strategy

In 2013, we launched M2016 - a three-year plan that we believe will drive value for our shareholders, customers and
employees. It defines specific financial measures of success for improved EBITDA margin, reduced debt (including
retirement liabilities) and increased revenue through organic growth. We expect that M2016 will be our roadmap from
now until 2016.

To achieve the financial measures of success, the plan focuses on four priorities:

*Drive operational excellence
*Focus on customer value
*Reduce product cost

e[nvest in a high-performing team

Drive Operational Excellence

The Operational Excellence area of M2016 highlights our focus on executing the Meritor Production System to
achieve targeted improvements in safety, quality, delivery, cost and employee involvement.

We have a history of driving continuous improvement. We implemented Performance Plus, a long-term profit
improvement and cost reduction initiative, in fiscal year 2007 to improve operational performance and increase cash
flow, earnings and shareowner value. As part of Performance Plus, we implemented the Meritor Production System, a
lean manufacturing initiative that guides our pursuit of operational excellence.

The Meritor Production System integrates several of our previous performance improvement initiatives into a set of
actions that focuses on improving systems, processes, behaviors and capabilities primarily associated with five core
metrics:

*Safety - Total case rate is a measure of the rate of recordable workplace injuries normalized per 100 employees per
year. We have initiated safety programs throughout our global operations to protect our employees with a target to
further reduce total case rate by 2016.

*Quality - We are driving toward further reducing our customer quality rate measured by parts per million (PPM) by
the end of of 2016 through focusing on design for manufacturing, supplier development, Six Sigma, training and new
technologies.

*Cost - We are targeting further net improvement each year for labor and burden cost reduction. Major areas of
attention include driving better equipment utilization, reducing changeover time, eliminating waste, improving shift
and asset utilization, and investing in equipment to improve cycle time and flexibility.

*People - We encourage every employee to submit at least three suggestions. In North America, we implemented
approximately $1 million in improvements in fiscal year 2014 based on employee input.

*Delivery - In fiscal year 2014, we met our OE delivery performance goal while managing a volume increase in North
America.

Throughout our company, continuous improvement teams work to improve workplace safety, improve design and
quality, implement cost savings ideas, increase productivity and efficiency, and streamline operations. Maintaining a
continuous improvement culture is important to improving our business operations and operating results.
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As part of Operational Excellence, we are also focused on optimizing our manufacturing footprint to drive additional
cost savings. As part of Performance Plus, we transformed Meritor to leverage our strength in the commercial vehicle
and industrial businesses through the sale of our light vehicle businesses.

We reached a settlement with Eaton regarding the antitrust suit. The proceeds from the settlement were used to
pre-fund mandatory pension contributions in the United States and United Kingdom, accelerating our timing to
achieve our M2016 net debt reduction target.

10



Edgar Filing: MERITOR INC - Form 10-K

Focus on Customer Value

We have established three main goals for improving customer value as part of our M2016 plan. Our first goal is to
introduce new products and win new business to drive profitable growth. Second, we are working closely with our
customers to achieve the Meritor Value Proposition. Finally, we plan to meet or exceed global customer expectations
in terms of quality, delivery, innovation and customer service.

Growing Profitably - Our goal is to drive growth from new customers, new programs and/or new products. For more
than 100 years, our products have evolved to meet the changing needs of our customers in all major regions of the
world. As technology has advanced, we have designed products that are more fuel efficient, lighter weight, safer, and
more durable and reliable. The Meritor brand is well established globally and represents a wide portfolio of
high-quality products for many vocations.

Building upon the strength of our core technologies, we intend to expand our presence globally and continue our

growth in complementary product lines. Our strategy involves continuing to capitalize on our geographic diversity and
product line capability through our strong, global customer relationships and our substantial aftermarket presence.
Through implementation of a technology roadmap, complementary technologies such as electronics, controls and
mechatronics are being applied to traditional product lines to provide enhanced performance and expanded vehicle
content as demonstrated with the launch in fiscal year 2013 of SmartFlow™ Central Tire Inflation System (CTIS) and
DriveCommand™ Drivetrain Control (DTC). These systems deliver customized tire pressure and drivetrain management
to keep military vehicles moving through various terrains and extreme conditions.

As industry trends continue to lean toward an increasing amount of equipment for environmental and safety-related
regulatory provisions, OEM select suppliers based not only on the cost and quality of their products but also on their
ability to meet stringent environmental and safety requirements and to service and support the customer after the sale.
We use our technological and market expertise to develop and engineer products that address mobility, safety,
regulatory and environmental concerns.

To address safety, we have implemented a strategy of focusing on products and technologies that enhance overall
vehicle braking performance. As part of this strategy, we are focusing on the integration of braking and stability
products and suspension products as well as the development of electronic control capabilities. Through
MeritorWabco, our joint venture with WABCO Holdings, Inc., we offer electronic braking systems that integrate
anti-lock braking systems technology, automatic traction control, collision avoidance systems and other key vehicle
control system components to improve braking performance and meet all required stopping distances for commercial
vehicles.

Achieving the Meritor Value Proposition - We are recognized globally for our capabilities in designing, testing and
manufacturing high quality drivetrain and braking products. With efficiency and safety in mind, our global
engineering team works with supply chain and manufacturing to offer a technology-rich portfolio of drivetrain and
braking solutions for original equipment manufacturers and the aftermarket.

We effectively manage complexity for small volumes and aim to support our customers’ needs during periods of high
volumes. The quality, durability and on-time delivery of our products has earned us strong positions in most of the
markets we support. As we seek to extend and expand our business with existing customers and begin relationships
with new ones, our objective is to ensure we are getting a fair value for the recognized benefits of our products and
services and the strong brand equity we hold in the marketplace.

We believe the quality of our core product lines, our ability to service our products through our aftermarket
capabilities, and our sales and service support team give us a competitive advantage. A key part of being a preferred

11
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supplier is the ability to deliver service through the entire life cycle of the product.

Exceeding Customer Expectations - As part of our overall strategy, we will measure customer satisfaction. Our
performance in the eyes of our customers is very important.

We believe our focus on customer value has led to the customer successes we experienced in 2014. We extended our
contract with Volvo to supply axles in Europe and South America through December 2021 and in Australia through
May 2019. We also entered into agreements with Volvo Group North America to extend existing contracts for the
supply of axles and drivelines through May 2019. We extended an agreement to supply Hino, our second largest
medium duty truck customer, with axles and brakes through March 2017. We also completed a new four-year
agreement with Daimler Trucks North America. With this contract, Meritor retains standard position for air drum
brakes and drivelines and holds a strong optional position for front and rear axles.

12
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Reduce Product Cost

A broad collaborative effort among our Purchasing, Engineering, Supply Chain and Operations is needed to
effectively manage product costs, as we target achieving annual net material reductions (measured against controllable
spend) of 2.5% annually. We intend to drive such material performance using three different approaches.

While Commercial Negotiations with our suppliers will likely always play a role in managing product cost, we are
also actively engaging in Best Cost Country Sourcing and Technical Innovation that we believe can generate more
permanent forms of cost reduction. We will explore further sourcing from Best Cost Countries to add more balance as
we take advantage of differences in global supplier cost and capabilities. And we will continue to assess options
involved in changing product designs to lower product costs. As we explore opportunities in this area, we will ensure
we balance our target with the quality and delivery standards we require from our global supply base.

Increasing inventory turns is an important element in improving our working capital performance. We believe we can
improve our inventory turnover rate from our current levels. By reducing inventory, we would be able to generate
more cash to reinvest in the business or to return to shareholders.

We intend to accomplish this through: localization of our supply base where possible; warehousing close to our
facilities for imported supply; improved demand planning so material and supply chain planning teams can better
determine how much inventory to hold; increased accuracy in production forecasting; and minimizing or eliminating
inventory held to support certain low-volume products.

Invest in a High Performing Team

We believe that our strength to compete in the global market is dependent upon having the engagement of every
Meritor employee. We want Meritor to be a place where talented people thrive. Around the world, we pride ourselves
on collaboration, creativity and commitment. Over the next several years, we will focus on employee satisfaction in
four major areas: Mission, Consistency, Involvement and Adaptability. Within each of these areas are specific
elements that we will measure ourselves against annually.

We recognize that that a high-performing team is critical to the level of performance we want to achieve. We have a
strong and experienced leadership team and commitment from our employees to seek to create the level of sustainable
performance improvement we desire. We will also continue to diversify our workforce because we recognize the
value of different opinions and backgrounds in a company as global as Meritor.

Products

Meritor designs, develops, manufactures, markets, distributes, sells, services and supports a broad range of products
for use in the transportation and industrial sectors. In addition to sales of original equipment systems and components,
we provide our original equipment, aftermarket and remanufactured products to vehicle OEMs, their dealers (who in
turn sell to motor carriers and commercial vehicle users of all sizes), independent distributors, and other end-users in
certain aftermarkets.

The following chart sets forth, for each of the three fiscal years with the most recent ended September 30, 2014,
information about product sales comprising more than 10% of consolidated revenue in any of those years. A narrative

description of our principal products follows the chart.

Product Sales:

13
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Fiscal Year Ended

September 30,

2014 2013 2012
Axles, Undercarriage and Drivelines 78 % T8 % 15 %
Brakes and Braking Systems 21 % 20 % 23 %
Other 1 % 2 % 2 %
Total 100 % 100 % 100 %

The two segments included in our continuing operations manufacture and supply the products set forth and described
below.

6

14
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Axles, Undercarriage & Drivelines

We believe we are one of the world's leading independent suppliers of axles for medium- and heavy-duty commercial
vehicles, with the leading market position in axle manufacturing in North America, South America and Europe, and
are one of the major axle manufacturers in the Asia-Pacific region. Our extensive truck axle product line includes a
wide range of front steer axles and rear drive axles. Our front steer and rear drive axles can be equipped with our cam,
wedge or air disc brakes, automatic slack adjusters, complete wheel-end equipment such as hubs, rotors and drums,
and (through our MeritorWABCO joint venture) anti-lock braking systems (“ABS”) and vehicle stability control
systems.

We supply heavy-duty axles in certain global regions, for use in numerous off-highway vehicle applications, including
construction, material handling, and mining. We also supply axles for use in military tactical wheeled vehicles,
principally in North America. These products are designed to tolerate high tonnage and operate under extreme
geographical and climate conditions. In addition, we have other off-highway vehicle products that are currently in
development for certain other regions. We also supply axles for use in buses, coaches and recreational vehicles, fire
trucks and other specialty vehicles in North America, Asia-Pacific and Europe, and believe we are a leading supplier
of bus and coach axles in North America.

We are one of the major manufacturers of heavy-duty trailer axles in North America. Our trailer axles are available in
more than 40 models in capacities from 20,000 to 30,000 pounds for virtually all heavy trailer applications and are
available with our broad range of suspension modules, brake products, including drum brakes, disc brakes, anti-lock
and trailer stability control systems, and ABS (through our MeritorWABCO joint venture).

We supply universal joints and driveline components, including our Permalube™ universal joint and RPL Permalube™
driveline, which are maintenance free, permanently lubricated designs used often in the high mileage on-highway
market. We supply drivelines in a variety of global regions, for use in numerous on-highway vehicle applications,
including construction, material handling and mining. We supply transfer cases and drivelines for use in military
tactical wheeled vehicles, principally in North America. We also supply transfer cases for use in specialty vehicles in
North America. Anti-lock brakes and stability control systems (which we supply through our MeritorWABCO joint
venture) are also used in military vehicles and specialty vehicles. In addition, we supply trailer air suspension systems
and products with an increasing market presence in North America. We also supply advanced suspension modules for
use in light-, medium- and heavy-duty military tactical wheeled vehicles, principally in North America.

Brakes and Braking Systems

We believe we are one of the leading independent suppliers of air brakes to medium- and heavy-duty commercial
vehicle manufacturers in North America and Europe. In Brazil, one of the largest truck and trailer markets in the
world, we believe that Master Sistemas Automotivos Limitada, our 49%-owned joint venture with Randon S. A.
Vehiculos e Implementos, is a leading supplier of brakes and brake-related products.

Through manufacturing facilities located in North America, Asia-Pacific and Europe, we manufacture a broad range
of foundation air brakes, as well as automatic slack adjusters for brake systems. Our foundation air brake products
include cam drum brakes, which offer improved lining life and tractor/trailer interchangeability; wedge drum brakes,
which are lightweight and provide automatic internal wear adjustment; air disc brakes, which provide enhanced
stopping distance and improved fade resistance for demanding applications; and wheel-end components such as hubs,
drums and rotors.

15
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Our brakes and brake system components also are used in military tactical wheeled vehicles, principally in North
America. We also supply brakes for use in buses, coaches and recreational vehicles, fire trucks and other specialty
vehicles in North America and Europe, and we believe we are the leading supplier of bus and coach brakes in North
America, and also supply brakes for commercial vehicles, buses and coaches in Asia-Pacific.

U.S. Federal regulations require that new medium- and heavy-duty vehicles sold in the United States be equipped with
ABS. We believe that, Meritor WABCO Vehicle Control Systems, our 50%-owned joint venture with WABCO, is a
leading supplier of ABS and a supplier of other electronic and pneumatic control systems (such as stability control and
collision avoidance systems) for North American heavy-duty commercial vehicles. The joint venture also supplies
hydraulic ABS to the North American medium-duty truck market and produces stability control and collision
mitigation systems for tractors and trailers, which are designed to help maintain vehicle stability and aid in reducing
tractor-trailer rollovers and other incidents.

16
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Other Products

In addition to the products discussed above, we sell other complimentary products, including third party and private
label items, through our aftermarket distribution channels. These products are generally sold under master distribution
or similar agreements with outside vendors and include brake shoes and friction materials; automatic slack adjusters;
yokes and shafts; wheel-end hubs and drums; ABS and stability control systems; shock absorbers and air springs; air
brakes, air systems, air dryers and compressors.

Customers; Sales and Marketing

Meritor has numerous customers worldwide and has developed long-standing business relationships with many of
these customers. Our ten largest customers accounted for approximately 76 percent of our total sales from continuing
operations in fiscal year 2014. Sales to AB Volvo, Daimler AG and Navistar International Corporation represented
approximately 27 percent, 18 percent and 12 percent, respectively, of our sales in fiscal year 2014. No other customer
accounted for 10% or more of our total sales in fiscal year 2014.

OEMs

In North America, we design, engineer, market and sell products principally to OEMs, dealers and distributors. While

our North American sales are typically direct to the OEMs, our ultimate commercial truck customers include trucking

and transportation fleets. Fleet customers may specify our components and integrated systems for installation in the
vehicles they purchase from OEMs. We employ what we refer to as a “push-pull” marketing strategy. We “push” for being
the standard product at the OEM. At the same time, our district field managers then call on fleets and OEM dealers to
“pull-through” our components on specific truck purchases. For all other markets, we specifically design, engineer,

market and sell products principally to OEMs for their market-specific needs or product specifications.

For certain large OEM customers, our supply arrangements are generally negotiated on a long-term contract basis for
a multi-year period that may require us to provide annual cost reductions (through price reductions or other cost
benefits for the OEMs). If we are unable to generate sufficient cost savings in the future to offset such price
reductions, our gross margins will be adversely affected. Sales to other OEMs are typically made through open order
releases or purchase orders at market based prices which do not require the purchase of a minimum number of
products. The customer typically has the right to cancel or delay these orders on reasonable notice. We generally
compete for new business from OEMs as long-term contracts expire.

We have established leading positions in many of the markets we serve as a global supplier of a broad range of
drivetrain systems, brakes and components. Based on available industry data and internal company estimates, our
market-leading positions include independent truck drive axles (i.e. those manufactured by an independent,
non-captive supplier) in North America, Europe, South America and India; truck drivelines in North America; truck
air brakes in North America, and South America (through a joint venture); and military wheeled vehicle drivetrain,
suspension and brakes in North America.

Our global customer portfolio includes companies such as AB Volvo, Daimler AG, Navistar International
Corporation, Oshkosh, MAN, Iveco, PACCAR, Inc., Ashok Leyland, and Ford.

Aftermarket
We market and sell truck, trailer, off-highway and other products principally to, and service such products principally
for, OEMs, their parts marketing operations, their dealers and other independent distributors and service garages

within the aftermarket industry. Our product sales are generated through long-term agreements with certain of our
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OEM customers, and distribution agreements and sales to independent dealers and distributors. Sales to other OEMs
are typically made through open order releases or purchase orders at market based prices which do not require the
purchase of a minimum number of products. The customer typically has the right to cancel or delay these orders on
reasonable notice.

Our product offerings allow us to service all stages of our customers’ vehicle ownership lifecycle. In North America
we stock and distribute hundreds of parts from top national brands to our customers or what we refer to as our “all
makes” strategy. Our district field managers call on our OEM and independent customers to market our full product
line capabilities on a regular basis to seek to ensure that we satisfy our customers’ needs. Our aftermarket business
sells products under the following brand names: Meritor; Meritor Wabco; Euclid; Trucktechnic; and Meritor AllFit.

Based on available industry data and internal company estimates, our North America aftermarket business has the
overall market leadership position for the portfolio of products that we offer.

8
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Competition

We compete worldwide with a number of North American and international providers of components and systems,
some of which are owned by or associated with some of our customers. The principal competitive factors are price,
quality, service, product performance, design and engineering capabilities, new product innovation and timely

delivery. In addition, certain OEMs manufacture their own components that compete with the types of products we

supply.

Our major competitors for axles are Dana Holding Corp. and, in certain markets, OEMs that manufacture axles for use
in their own products. Emerging competitors for axles include Daimler Truck North America’s Detroit Axle and
American Axle Corporation and from China, Hande, Fuwa and Ankai. Our major competitors for brakes are
WABCO, Brembo, Bendix/Knorr Bremse and, in certain markets, OEMs that manufacture brakes for use in their own
products. Our major competitors for industrial applications are MAN, AxleTech International, Oshkosh, AM General,
Marmon-Herrington, Dana Holding Corp., Knorr, Kessler & Co., Carraro, NAF, Sisu and, in certain markets, OEMs
that manufacture industrial products for use in their own vehicles. Our major competitors for trailer applications are
Hendrickson, BPW and SAF-Holland.

See Item 1A. Risk Factors for information on certain risks associated with our competitive environment.
Raw Materials and Suppliers

Our purchases of raw materials and parts are concentrated over a limited number of suppliers. We are dependent upon
our suppliers' ability to meet cost performance, quality specifications and delivery schedules. The inability of a
supplier to meet these requirements, the loss of a significant supplier, or any other work stoppages, could have an
adverse effect on our ability to meet our customers' delivery requirements.

The cost of our core products is susceptible to changes in overall steel commodity prices, including ingredients used
for various grades of steel. We have generally structured our major steel supplier and customer contracts to absorb and
pass on normal index-related market fluctuations in steel prices. While we have had steel pricing adjustment programs
in place with most major OE manufacturers, the price adjustment programs tend to lag the movement in steel costs
and have generally not contemplated non-index related increases.

Significant future volatility in the commodity markets or a deterioration in demand may require us to pursue customer
increases through surcharges or other pricing arrangements. In addition, if suppliers are inadequate for our needs, or if
prices remain at current levels or increase and we are unable to either pass these prices to our customer base or
otherwise mitigate the costs, our operating results could be further adversely affected.

We continuously work to address these competitive challenges by reducing costs and, as needed, restructuring
operations. We manage supplier risk by conducting periodic assessments for all major suppliers and more frequent
rigorous assessments of high-risk suppliers. On an ongoing basis, we monitor third party financial statements, conduct
surveys through supplier questionnaires, and conduct site visits. We have developed a chronic supplier improvement
process where we identify and develop actions to address ongoing financial, quality and delivery issues to further
mitigate potential risk. We are proactive in managing our supplier relationships to avoid supply disruption. Our
process employs dual sourcing and resourcing trigger points that cause us to take aggressive actions and then monitor
the progress closely.

Divestitures and Restructuring
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As described above, our business strategies are focused on enhancing our market position by continuously evaluating
the competitive differentiation of our product portfolio, focusing on our strengths and core competencies, and growing
the businesses that offer the most attractive returns. Implementing these strategies involves various types of strategic
initiatives.

As part of our strategy to refocus our business and dedicate our resources to our core capabilities, we regularly review
the prospects of our existing businesses to determine whether any of them should be modified, restructured, sold or
otherwise discontinued. In an effort to execute our long-term strategy to transform our company away from the light
vehicle business to focus on profitable segments within the commercial vehicle and industrial business, we completed
the following initiatives since the beginning of fiscal year 2012 (see Note 3 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements under Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data below):

9
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{n fiscal year 2012, we completed the sale our damper business located in Leicester, England.

In fiscal year 2012, we concluded Performance Plus, our global, long-term profit improvement and cost reduction
initiative.

{n fiscal year 2012, we concluded restructuring activities related to the planned closure of our EU Trailer business.
In the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2014, we completed the disposition of our Mascot all makes remanufacturing
business, which was part of the Aftermarket & Trailer segment.

Restructuring Actions

South America Labor Reduction: During the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2014, we initiated a South America
headcount reduction plan intended to reduce labor costs in response softening economic conditions in the region. In
response to decreasing production volumes in South America, the company plans to eliminate approximately 190
hourly and 20 salaried positions and incurred $7 million of restructuring costs, primarily severance benefits, in the
Commercial Truck & Industrial segment.

Variable Labor Reductions: During the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2012, we initiated a global variable labor
headcount reduction plan intended to reduce labor and other costs in response to market conditions. In response to
further deterioration in the global markets, we approved further headcount reductions under this action during the
fourth quarter of fiscal year 2013. As part of this action, we eliminated approximately 600 hourly and 120 salaried
positions in the Commercial Truck & Industrial segment. We recognized cumulative costs of approximately $10
million, primarily severance benefits, as of September 30, 2013, of which approximately $5 million was recognized in
fiscal year 2012 and $5 million was recognized in fiscal year 2013. All restructuring actions associated with variable
labor reduction program were substantially complete as of September 30, 2013.

Remanufacturing Consolidation: During the first quarter of fiscal year 2013, we announced the planned consolidation
of our Mascot remanufacturing operations in the Aftermarket & Trailer segment resulting in the closure of one
remanufacturing plant in Canada. The closure resulted in the elimination of 85 hourly positions including
approximately 65 positions which were transferred to the company's facility in Indiana. We recorded restructuring
charges of approximately $3 million during the fiscal year ended 2013 associated with employee severance charges.
Restructuring actions associated with the remanufacturing consolidation were substantially complete as of September
30, 2013. In the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2014, we disposed of our Mascot business.

Segment Reorganization and Asia-Pacific Realignment: On March 26, 2013, we announced plans to consolidate
operations in China by transferring manufacturing operations to our majority-owned, off-highway joint venture
facility and closing our facilities in Wuxi, China and Nanjing, China. During fiscal year 2013, we recorded employee
severance charges and other exit costs associated with the elimination of approximately 200 salaried positions
(including contract employees) and 50 hourly positions of $8 million and $3 million in the Commercial Truck &
Industrial and Aftermarket & Trailer segments, respectively, as well as $3 million at a corporate location. We also
recognized $2 million within the Commercial Truck & Industrial segment related to a lease termination. Restructuring
actions associated with the program were substantially complete as of September 30, 2013.

M2016 Footprint Actions: As part of our M2016 Strategy, our three-year plan to achieve sustainable financial
strength, we announced a North American footprint realignment and a European shared services reorganization. As
part of these actions, we eliminated approximately 74 hourly and 27 salaried positions and incurred approximately $2
million of restructuring cost in the Commercial Truck & Industrial segment. These expenses were primarily related to
severance benefits, which were recognized in fiscal year 2013.

See Item 1A. Risk Factors for information on certain risks associated with strategic initiatives.

10
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Joint Ventures

As the industries in which we operate have become more globalized, joint ventures and other cooperative
arrangements have become an important element of our business strategies. These strategic alliances provide for sales,
product design, development and manufacturing in certain product and geographic areas. As of September 30, 2014,
our continuing operations participated in the following non-consolidated joint ventures:

Key Products Country
Meritor WABCO Vehicle Control Systems Antilock braking and air systems U.S.
Master Sistemas Automotivos Limitada Braking systems Brazil
ZF Meritor LLC (Commercial Truck) Heavy-duty transmissions U.S.
Sistemas Automotrices de Mexico S.A. de C.V. Axles, drivelines and brakes Mexico
Ege Fren Sanayii ve Ticaret A.S. Braking systems Turkey
Automotive Axles Limited Rear drive axle assemblies India

Aggregate sales of our non-consolidated joint ventures were $1,268 million, $1,552 million, and $1,787 million in
fiscal years 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

In accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, our consolidated financial
statements include the financial position and operating results of those joint ventures in which we have control. For
additional information of our unconsolidated joint ventures and percentage ownership thereof see Note 12 of the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements under Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data below.

Research and Development

We have significant research, development, engineering and product design capabilities. We spent $71 million in each
of fiscal years 2014 and 2013 and $73 million in fiscal year 2012 on company-sponsored research, development and
engineering. We employ professional engineers and scientists globally, and have additional engineering capabilities
through contract arrangements in low-cost countries. We also have advanced technical centers in North America,
South America, Europe and Asia-Pacific (primarily in India and China).

Patents and Trademarks

We own or license many United States and foreign patents and patent applications in our engineering and
manufacturing operations and other activities. While in the aggregate these patents and licenses are considered
important to the operation of our businesses, management does not consider them of such importance that the loss or
termination of any one of them would materially affect a business segment or Meritor as a whole.

Our registered trademarks for Meritor® and the Bull design are important to our business. Other significant
trademarks owned by us include Euclid® and Trucktechnic® for aftermarket products.

Substantially all of our U.S. held intellectual property rights are subject to a first-priority perfected security interest
securing our obligations to the lenders under our credit facility. See Note 15 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements under Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data below.

Employees

At September 30, 2014, we had approximately 9,050 full-time employees. At that date, 86 employees in the United
States and Canada were covered by collective bargaining agreements and most of our facilities outside of the United
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States and Canada were unionized. We believe our relationship with unionized employees is satisfactory.

11
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Environmental Matters

Federal, state and local requirements relating to the discharge of substances into the environment, the disposal of
hazardous wastes and other activities affecting the environment have, and will continue to have, an impact on our
operations. We record liabilities for environmental issues in the accounting period in which they are considered to be
probable and the cost can be reasonably estimated. At environmental sites in which more than one potentially
responsible party has been identified, we record a liability for our allocable share of costs related to our involvement
with the site, as well as an allocable share of costs related to insolvent parties or unidentified shares. At environmental
sites in which we are the only potentially responsible party, we record a liability for the total estimated costs of
remediation before consideration of recovery from insurers or other third parties.

We have been designated as a potentially responsible party at nine Superfund sites, excluding sites as to which our
records disclose no involvement or as to which our liability has been finally determined. In addition to Superfund
sites, various other lawsuits, claims and proceedings have been asserted against us, alleging violations of federal, state
and local environmental protection requirements or seeking remediation of alleged environmental impairments,
principally at previously disposed-of properties. We have established reserves for these liabilities when they are
considered to be probable and reasonably estimable. See Note 22 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
under Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data below for information as to our estimates of the total
reasonably possible costs we could incur and the amounts recorded as a liability as of September 30, 2014, and as to
changes in environmental accruals during fiscal year 2014.

The process of estimating environmental liabilities is complex and dependent on physical and scientific data at the
site, uncertainties as to remedies and technologies to be used, and the outcome of discussions with regulatory
agencies. The actual amount of costs or damages for which we may be held responsible could materially exceed our
current estimates because of uncertainties, including the financial condition of other potentially responsible parties,
the success of the remediation and other factors that make it difficult to predict actual costs accurately. However,
based on management's assessment, after consulting with Sandra J. Quick, Meritor's General Counsel, and with
outside advisors who specialize in environmental matters, and subject to the difficulties inherent in estimating these
future costs, we believe that our expenditures for environmental capital investment and remediation necessary to
comply with present regulations governing environmental protection and other expenditures for the resolution of
environmental claims will not have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of
operations. In addition, in future periods, new laws and regulations, changes in remediation plans, advances in
technology and additional information about the ultimate clean-up remedy could significantly change our estimates.
Management cannot assess the possible effect of compliance with future requirements.

International Operations

We believe our international operations provide us with geographical diversity and help us to weather the cyclical
nature of our business. Approximately 57 percent of our total assets as of September 30, 2014 and 61 percent of fiscal
year 2014 sales from continuing operations were outside the U.S. See Note 23 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements under Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data below for financial information by geographic
area for the three fiscal years ended September 30, 2014.

Our international operations are subject to a number of risks inherent in operating abroad (see Item 1A. Risk Factors
below). There can be no assurance that these risks will not have a material adverse impact on our ability to increase or

maintain our foreign sales or on our financial condition or results of operations.

Our operations are also exposed to global market risks, including foreign currency exchange rate risk related to our
transactions denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar. We have a foreign currency cash flow hedging
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program in place to help reduce the company’s exposure to changes in exchange rates. We use foreign currency
forward contracts to manage the company’s exposures arising from foreign currency exchange risk. Gains and losses
on the underlying foreign currency exposures are partially offset with gains and losses on the foreign currency forward
contracts. The contracts generally mature within twelve months. It is our policy not to enter into derivative financial
instruments for speculative purposes and, therefore, we hold no derivative instruments for trading purposes. See Item
7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk and Note 16 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements under Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data below.
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Seasonality; Cyclicality

We may experience seasonal variations in the demand for our products, to the extent OEM vehicle production
fluctuates. Historically, for all of our operations, demand has been somewhat lower in the quarters ended September
30 and December 31, when OEM plants may close during summer shutdowns and holiday periods or when there are
fewer selling days during the quarter. In addition, our aftermarket business and our operations in China generally
experience seasonally higher demand in the quarters ending March 31 and June 30.

In addition, the industries in which we operate have been characterized historically by periodic fluctuations in overall
demand for trucks, trailers and other specialty vehicles for which we supply products, resulting in corresponding
fluctuations in demand for our products. Production and sales of the vehicles for which we supply products generally
depend on economic conditions and a variety of other factors that are outside of our control, including freight tonnage,
customer spending and preferences, vehicle age, labor relations and regulatory requirements. See Item 1A. Risk
Factors below. Cycles in the major vehicle industry markets of North America and Europe are not necessarily
concurrent or related. It is part of our strategy to continue to seek to expand our operations globally to help mitigate
the effect of periodic fluctuations in demand of the vehicle industry in one or more particular countries.

In fiscal year 2010, following sharp declines in production and sales volumes in substantially all regions in 2009, we
saw varying levels of improvement from fiscal year 2009 low points. In fiscal year 2011, the pace of the recovery of
commercial truck volumes in North America and Europe, our largest markets, was more rapid than previously
anticipated. In fiscal year 2012, production volumes in North America increased while South America and Europe
production volumes declined as compared to fiscal year 2011. In fiscal year 2014, we experienced an increase in
production volumes in North America compared to the levels experienced in fiscal year 2013. During fiscal year 2015,
we expect a modest increase in production volumes in North America compared to the levels experienced in fiscal
year 2014. We anticipate a significant decrease in production volumes in South America resulting from continued
economic uncertainty. We expect production volumes in Europe to soften compared to the levels experienced in fiscal
year 2014. Production volumes in China are expected to increase slightly during fiscal year 2015 compared to levels
experienced in fiscal year 2014. We expect the market in India to be up in fiscal year 2015 due to an improving
economic climate.

The following table sets forth estimated truck production in principal markets we serve for the last five fiscal years
based on available industry sources and management's estimates:

Year Ended September 30,
2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
Estimated Commercial Truck production (in thousands):

North America, Heavy-Duty Trucks 281 243 295 224 146
North America, Medium-Duty Trucks 213 197 182 159 114
Western Europe, Heavy- and Medium-Duty Trucks 402 383 394 407 266
South America, Heavy- and Medium- Duty Trucks 166 186 165 204 179

Available Information
We make available free of charge through our web site (www.Meritor.com) our Annual Report on Form 10-K,

Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, all amendments to those reports, and other filings we
make with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”), as soon as reasonably practicable after they are filed.
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Cautionary Statement

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains statements relating to future results of the company (including certain
projections and business trends) that are “forward-looking statements” as defined in the Private Securities Litigation
Reform Act of 1995. Forward-looking statements are typically identified by words or phrases such as “believe,” “expect,”
“anticipate,” “estimate,” “should,” “are likely to be,” “will” and similar expressions. Actual results may differ materially from
those projected as a result of certain risks and uncertainties, including but not limited to reduced production for certain
military programs and our ability to secure new military programs as our primary military program winds down by
design through 2015; reliance on major original equipment manufacturer (“OEM”) customers and possible negative
outcomes from contract negotiations with our major customers, including failure to negotiate acceptable terms in
contract renewal negotiations and our ability to obtain new customers; the outcome of actual and potential product
liability, warranty and recall claims; our ability to successfully manage rapidly changing volumes in the commercial
truck markets and work with our customers to manage demand expectations in view of rapid changes in production
levels; global economic and market cycles and conditions; availability and sharply rising costs of raw materials,
including steel, and our ability to manage or recover such costs; our ability to manage possible adverse effects on our
European operations, or financing arrangements related thereto, in the event one or more countries exit the European
monetary union; risks inherent in operating abroad (including foreign currency exchange rates, implications of foreign
regulations relating to pensions and potential disruption of production and supply due to terrorist attacks or acts of
aggression); rising costs of pension and other postemployment benefits; the ability to achieve the expected benefits of
restructuring actions; the demand for commercial and specialty vehicles for which we supply products; whether our
liquidity will be affected by declining vehicle productions in the future; OEM program delays; demand for and market
acceptance of new and existing products; successful development of new products; labor relations of our company,

our suppliers and customers, including potential disruptions in supply of parts to our facilities or demand for our
products due to work stoppages; the financial condition of our suppliers and customers, including potential
bankruptcies; possible adverse effects of any future suspension of normal trade credit terms by our suppliers; potential
difficulties competing with companies that have avoided their existing contracts in bankruptcy and reorganization
proceedings; potential impairment of long-lived assets, including goodwill; potential adjustment of the value of

deferred tax assets; competitive product and pricing pressures; the amount of our debt; our ability to continue to

comply with covenants in our financing agreements; our ability to access capital markets; credit ratings of our debt;

the outcome of existing and any future legal proceedings, including any litigation with respect to environmental or
asbestos-related matters; possible changes in accounting rules; and other substantial costs, risks and uncertainties,
including but not limited to those detailed herein and from time to time in other filings of the company with the SEC.
See also the following portions of this Annual Report on Form 10-K: Item 1. Business , “Customers; Sales and
Marketing”; “Competition”; “Raw Materials and Supplies”; “Employees”; “Environmental Matters”’; “International Operation:s
and “Seasonality; Cyclicality”; Item 1A. Risk Factors; Item 3. Legal Proceedings; and Item 7. Management's Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations. These forward-looking statements are made only as of
the date hereof, and the company undertakes no obligation to update or revise the forward-looking statements,

whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as otherwise required by law.

LT3

Item 1A. Risk Factors.

Our business, financial condition and results of operations can be impacted by a number of risks, including those
described below and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, any one of which could cause our actual results
to vary materially from recent results or from anticipated future results. Any of these individual risks could materially
and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. This effect could be compounded if
multiple risks were to occur.

We may not be able to execute our M2016 Strategy.
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In 2013, we announced our M2016 Strategy, a three-year plan to achieve sustainable financial strength. In connection
with the plan, we established certain financial goals relating to adjusted EBITDA margins, debt reduction and
incremental revenue. The M2016 Strategy is based on our current planning assumptions, and achievement of the plan
is subject to a number of risks. Our assumptions include that the global economy and our markets improve; we are
able to secure new business wins (a significant portion of which generates sales by the year 2016); we are able to
reduce costs and increase pricing; and any increases in raw materials prices are substantially offset by customer
recovery mechanisms. If our assumptions are incorrect, if management is not able to execute the plan or if our
business suffers from any number of additional risks set forth herein, we may not be able to achieve the financial goals
we have announced.
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Our primary military program is winding down and failure to secure new military contracts, which are subject to
continued appropriations by Congress, could adversely affect our ability to maintain our sales and results of
operations.

We have significant sales to U.S. Government contractors in the military vehicle market. Sales for our primary
military program were at their peak during the third quarter of fiscal year 2012. This program is expected to continue
to wind down next year, and failure to secure new military contracts could have a longer-term negative impact to the
company. In addition, even if sales of our military programs do return to historic levels, the levels of profitability on
these sales could be lower than what we have recognized in recent periods.

Future sales from orders placed under contracts with U.S. Government contractors are reliant on the continuing
availability of Congressional appropriations. If government defense spending decreases on selected programs or future
defense budgets and appropriations for the military vehicles that our products supply are subject to budgeting
constraints or differing priorities, reductions in appropriations for these military vehicles could adversely affect our
ability to maintain our sales and results of operations.

We depend on large OEM customers, and loss of sales to these customers or failure to negotiate acceptable terms in
contract renewal negotiations, or to obtain new customers, could have an adverse impact on our business.

We are dependent upon large OEM customers with substantial bargaining power with respect to price and other
commercial terms. In addition, we have long-term contracts with certain of these customers that are subject to
renegotiation and renewal from time to time. Loss of all or a substantial portion of sales to any of our large volume
customers for whatever reason (including, but not limited to, loss of contracts or failure to negotiate acceptable terms
in contract renewal negotiations, loss of market share by these customers, insolvency of such customers, reduced or
delayed customer requirements, plant shutdowns, strikes or other work stoppages affecting production by such
customers), continued reduction of prices to these customers, or a failure to obtain new customers, could have a
significant adverse effect on our financial results. There can be no assurance that we will not lose all or a portion of
sales to our large volume customers, or that we will be able to offset continued reduction of prices to these customers
with reductions in our costs or by obtaining new customers.

During fiscal year 2014, sales to our three largest customers, AB Volvo, Daimler AG and Navistar International
Corporation, represented approximately 27 percent, 18 percent and 12 percent, respectively, of our sales from
continuing operations. No other customer accounted for 10% or more of our total sales from continuing operations in
fiscal year 2014.

The level of our sales to large OEM customers, including the realization of future sales from awarded business or
obtaining new business or customers, is inherently subject to a number of risks and uncertainties, including the
number of vehicles that these OEM customers actually produce and sell. Several of our significant customers have
major union contracts that expire periodically and are subject to renegotiation. Any strikes or other actions that affect
our customers' production during this process would also affect our sales. Further, to the extent that the financial
condition, including bankruptcy or market share of any of our largest customers, deteriorates or their sales otherwise
continue to decline, our financial position and results of operations could be adversely affected. In addition, our
customers generally have the right to replace us with another supplier under certain circumstances. Accordingly, we
may not in fact realize all of the future sales represented by our awarded business. Any failure to realize these sales
could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

Ability to manage rapidly changing production and sales volume in the commercial vehicle market may adversely
affect our results of operations.
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Production and sales in the commercial vehicle market have been volatile in recent years. Our business may
experience difficulty in adapting to rapidly changing production and sales volumes. In an upturn of the cycle when
demand increases from what had recently been a historical low for production, we may have difficulty in meeting such
extreme or rapidly increasing demand. This difficulty may include not having sufficient manpower or working capital
to meet the needs of our customers or relying on other suppliers who may not be able to respond quickly to a changed
environment when demand increases rapidly. In contrast, in the downturn of the cycle, we may have difficulty
sustaining profitability given fixed costs (as further discussed below).

A further downturn in the global economy could materially adversely affect our results of operations, financial
condition and cash flows.

Although the global economy has improved since the global economic recession that began in late 2008 and continued
through 2009, the recession had a significant adverse impact on our business, customers and suppliers. Our cash and
liquidity needs were impacted by the level, variability and timing of our customers' worldwide vehicle production and
other factors outside of our control. If the global economy were to take another significant downturn, depending upon
the length, duration and severity of another recession, our results of operations, financial condition and cash flow
would be materially adversely affected again.

15
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Our levels of fixed costs can make it difficult to adjust our cost base to the extent necessary, or to make such
adjustments on a timely basis, and continued volume declines can result in non-cash impairment charges as the value
of certain long-lived assets is reduced. As a result, our financial condition and results of operations have been and
would be expected to continue to be adversely affected during periods of prolonged declining production and sales
volumes in the commercial vehicle markets.

The negative impact on our financial condition and results of operations from continued volume declines could also
have negative effects on our liquidity. If cash flows are not available from our operations, we may be required to rely
on the banking and credit markets to meet our financial commitments and short-term liquidity needs; however, we
cannot predict whether that funding will be available at all or on commercially reasonable terms. In addition, in the
event of reduced sales, levels of receivables would decline, which would lead to a decline in funding available under
our U.S. receivables facilities or under our European factoring arrangements.

Our working capital requirements may negatively affect our liquidity and capital resources.

Our working capital requirements can vary significantly, depending in part on the level, variability and timing of our
customers' worldwide vehicle production and the payment terms with our customers and suppliers. As production
volumes increase, our working capital requirements to support the higher volumes generally increase. If our working
capital needs exceed our other cash flows from operations, we would look to our cash balances and availability for
borrowings under our borrowing arrangements to satisfy those needs, as well as potential sources of additional capital,
which may not be available on satisfactory terms or in adequate amounts.

In addition, since many of our accounts receivable factoring programs support our working capital requirements in
Europe, any dissolution of the European monetary union, if it were to occur, or any other termination of our European
factoring agreements could have a material adverse effect on our liquidity if we were unable to renegotiate such
agreements or find alternative sources of liquidity.

One of our consolidated joint ventures in China participates in bills of exchange programs to settle accounts receivable
from its customers and obligations to its trade suppliers. These programs are common in China and generally require
the participation of local banks. Any disruption in these programs, if it were to occur, could have an adverse effect on
our liquidity if we were unable to find alternative sources of liquidity.

Our liquidity, including our access to capital markets and financing, could be constrained by limitations in the overall
credit market, our credit ratings, our ability to comply with financial covenants in our debt instruments, and our
suppliers suspending normal trade credit terms on our purchases, or by other factors beyond our control.

Our current revolving credit facility matures in February 2019. Upon expiration of this facility, we will require a new
or renegotiated facility (which may be smaller and have less favorable terms than our current facility) or other
financing arrangements. Our ability to access additional capital in the long term will depend on availability of capital
markets and pricing on commercially reasonable terms as well as our credit profile at the time we are seeking funds,
and there is no guarantee that we will be able to access additional capital.

On November 18, 2014, Standard & Poor's Ratings Services upgraded our current corporate credit rating, senior
secured credit rating and senior unsecured credit rating to B+, BB and B, respectively. Moody's Investors Service
corporate credit rating, senior secured credit rating and senior unsecured credit rating for our company are B2, Ba2
and B3, respectively. There are a number of factors, including our ability to achieve the intended benefits from
restructuring and other strategic activities on a timely basis, that could result in lowering of our credit ratings. The
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rating agencies' opinions about our creditworthiness may also be affected by their views of industry conditions
generally, including their views concerning the financial condition of our major OEM customers. If the credit rating
agencies perceive further weakening in the industry, they could lower our ratings. Declines in our ratings could reduce
our access to capital markets, further increase our borrowing costs and result in lower trading prices for our securities.

Our liquidity could also be adversely impacted if our suppliers were to suspend normal trade credit terms and require
more accelerated payment terms, including payment in advance or payment on delivery of purchases. If this were to
occur, we would be dependent on other sources of financing to bridge the additional period between payment of our
suppliers and receipt of payments from our customers.
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In December 2012, the SEC brought administrative proceedings against five accounting firms, including the Chinese
affiliate of our independent registered public accounting firm, alleging that they had refused to produce audit work
papers and other documents related to certain other China-based companies under investigation by the SEC for
potential accounting fraud. On January 22, 2014, an initial administrative law decision was issued, censuring these
Chinese accounting firms and suspending four of the five firms from practicing before the SEC for a period of six
months. The Chinese accounting firms have appealed the initial decision. The sanctions will not become effective
until after a full appeal process is concluded and a final order is issued by the SEC Commissioners. The deadline for
filing legal briefs in this appeal process has been extended to December 2014. Any final order of the SEC is subject to
review by a United States Court of Appeals. Although such an SEC order is final, the Chinese accounting firms may
make a motion to the SEC seeking to stay the effectiveness of the SEC order. Alternatively, the Chinese accounting
firms may seek an order from the reviewing court to postpone the effective date of the SEC order. Our independent
registered public accounting firm is not involved in the proceedings brought by the SEC against the Chinese
accounting firms. However, our independent registered public accounting firm utilizes the work of its Chinese affiliate
in auditing our Chinese operations. If the SEC order is affirmed on appeal, we may be adversely affected by the
outcome of the proceedings, along with other U.S. multinational corporations with Chinese operations whose
independent registered public accounting firms utilize the work of Chinese affiliates subject to the SEC enforcement
action. For example, if we (like other U.S. multinational companies similarly situated) were not able to timely file our
periodic reports with the SEC because our independent registered public accounting firm concludes that a scope
limitation exists with respect to the audit our annual financial statements or the review of our quarterly financial
statements, this could adversely impact our ability to raise capital in the U.S. public markets.

We operate in an industry that is cyclical and that has periodically experienced significant year-to-year fluctuations in
demand for vehicles; we also experience seasonal variations in demand for our products.

The industries in which we operate have been characterized historically by significant periodic fluctuations in overall
demand for medium- and heavy-duty trucks and other vehicles for which we supply products, resulting in
corresponding fluctuations in demand for our products. The length and timing of any cycle in the vehicle industry
cannot be predicted with certainty.

Production and sales of the vehicles for which we supply products generally depend on economic conditions and a
variety of other factors that are outside our control, including freight tonnage, customer spending and preferences,
vehicle age, labor relations and regulatory requirements. In particular, demand for our Commercial Truck & Industrial
segment products can be affected by a pre-buy before the effective date of new regulatory requirements, such as
changes in emissions standards. Historically, implementation of new, more stringent, emissions standards, has
increased heavy-duty truck demand prior to the effective date of the new regulations, and correspondingly decreased
this demand after the new standards are implemented. In addition, any expected increase in the heavy-duty truck
demand prior to the effective date of new emissions standards may be offset by instability in the financial markets and
resulting economic contraction in the U.S. and worldwide markets.

Sales from the aftermarket portion of our Aftermarket & Trailers segment depend on overall levels of truck ton miles
and gross domestic product (GDP) and may be influenced by times of slower economic growth or economic
contraction based on the average age of commercial truck fleets.

We may also experience seasonal variations in the demand for our products to the extent that vehicle production
fluctuates. Historically, for our business, demand has been somewhat lower in the quarters ended September 30 and
December 31, when OEM plants may close during model changeovers and vacation and holiday periods or when there
are fewer selling days during the quarter. In addition, our aftermarket business and our operations in China generally
experience seasonally higher demand in the quarters ending March 31 and June 30.
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Disruptions in the financial markets could impact the availability and cost of credit which could negatively affect our
business.

Disruptions in the financial markets, including the bankruptcy, insolvency or restructuring of certain financial
institutions, and the lack of liquidity generally could impact the availability and cost of incremental credit for many
companies and may adversely affect the availability of credit already arranged. Such disruptions could adversely
affect the U.S. and world economy, further negatively impacting consumer spending patterns in the transportation and
industrial sectors. In addition, as our customers and suppliers respond to rapidly changing consumer preferences, they
may require access to additional capital. If that capital is not available or its cost is prohibitively high, their business
would be negatively impacted which could result in further restructuring or even reorganization under bankruptcy
laws. Any such negative impact, in turn, could negatively affect our business either through loss of sales to any of our
customers so affected or through inability to meet our commitments (or inability to meet them without excess
expense) because of loss of supplies from any of our suppliers so affected. There are no assurances that government
responses to these disruptions will restore consumer confidence or improve the liquidity of the financial markets.
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In addition, disruptions in the capital and credit markets, as were experienced a few years ago, could adversely affect
our ability to draw on our revolving credit facility. Our access to funds under that credit facility is dependent on the
ability of the banks that are parties to the facility to meet their funding commitments. Those banks may not be able to
meet their funding commitments to us if they experience shortages of capital and liquidity or if they experience
excessive volumes of borrowing requests from Meritor and other borrowers within a short period of time. Longer-term
disruptions in the capital and credit markets as a result of uncertainty, changing or increased regulation, reduced
alternatives, or failures of significant financial institutions could adversely affect our access to liquidity needed for our
business. Any disruption could require us to take measures to conserve cash until the markets stabilize or until
alternative credit arrangements or other funding for our business needs can be arranged.

Continued fluctuation in the prices of raw materials and transportation costs has adversely affected our business and,
together with other factors, will continue to pose challenges to our financial results.

Prices of raw materials, primarily steel, for our manufacturing needs and costs of transportation have fluctuated
sharply in recent years, including rapid increases which had a negative impact on our operating income for certain
periods. These steel price increases, along with increasing transportation costs, created pressure on profit margins, and
if they recur in the future, they could unfavorably impact our financial results going forward. While we have had steel
pricing adjustment programs in place with most major OE manufacturers, the price adjustment programs have tended
to lag the increase in steel costs and have generally not contemplated all non-index-related increases in steel costs.
Raw material price fluctuation, together with the volatility of the commodity markets will continue to pose risks to our
financial results. If we are unable to pass price increases on to our customer base or otherwise mitigate the costs, our
operating income could be adversely affected.

Escalating price pressures from customers may adversely affect our business.

Pricing pressure by OEMs is a characteristic, to a certain extent, of the commercial vehicle industry. Virtually all
OEMs have aggressive price reduction initiatives and objectives each year with their suppliers, and such actions are
expected to continue in the future. Accordingly, we must be able to reduce our operating costs in order to maintain our
current margins. Price reductions have impacted our margins and may do so in the future. There can be no assurance
that we will be able to avoid future customer price reductions or offset future customer price reductions through
improved operating efficiencies, new manufacturing processes, sourcing alternatives or other cost reduction
initiatives.

We operate in a highly competitive industry.

Each of Meritor's businesses operates in a highly competitive environment. We compete worldwide with a number of
North American and international providers of components and systems, some of which are owned by or associated
with some of our customers. Some of these competitors are larger and have greater financial resources or have
established stronger relationships with significant customers. In addition, certain OEMs manufacture products for their
own use that compete with the types of products we supply, and any future increase in this activity could displace
Meritor's sales.

Many companies in our industry have undertaken substantial changes in contractual obligations to current and former
employees, primarily with respect to pensions and other postemployment benefits. The bankruptcy or insolvency of a
major competitor has resulted in certain companies eliminating or reducing some or all of these obligations as well as

their debt obligations, which could give that competitor a cost advantage over us.

Exchange rate fluctuations could adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.
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As a result of our substantial international operations, we are exposed to foreign currency risks that arise from our
normal business operations, including risks in connection with our transactions that are denominated in foreign
currencies. While we employ financial instruments to hedge certain of our foreign currency exchange risks relating to
these transactions, our efforts to manage these risks may not be successful. In addition, we translate sales and other
results denominated in foreign currencies into U.S. dollars for purposes of our consolidated financial statements. As a
result, appreciation of the U.S. dollar against these foreign currencies generally will have a negative impact on our
reported revenues and operating income, while depreciation of the U.S. dollar against these foreign currencies will
generally have a positive effect on reported revenues and operating income. For fiscal years 2012, 2013 and 2014, our
reported financial results were adversely affected by appreciation of the U.S. dollar against foreign currencies. We
generally do not hedge against our foreign currency exposure related to translations to U.S. dollars of our financial
results that are denominated in foreign currencies.
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A disruption in supply of raw materials or parts could impact our production and increase our costs.

Some of our significant suppliers have experienced weak financial condition in recent years that resulted in filing for
protection under the bankruptcy laws. In addition, some of our significant suppliers are located in developing
countries. We are dependent upon the ability of our suppliers to meet performance and quality specifications and
delivery schedules. The inability of a supplier to meet these requirements, the loss of a significant supplier, or any
labor issues or work stoppages at a significant supplier could disrupt the supply of raw materials and parts to our
facilities and could have an adverse effect on us.

Work stoppages or similar difficulties could significantly disrupt our operations.

A work stoppage at one or more of our manufacturing facilities could have a material adverse effect on our business.
In addition, if a significant customer were to experience a work stoppage, that customer could halt or limit purchases
of our products, which could result in shutting down the related manufacturing facilities. Also, a significant disruption
in the supply of a key component due to a work stoppage at one of our suppliers could result in shutting down
manufacturing facilities, which could have a material adverse effect on our business.

Our international operations are subject to a number of risks.

We have a significant number of facilities and operations outside the United States, including investments and joint
ventures in developing countries. During fiscal 2014, approximately 61 percent of our sales were generated outside of
the United States. Our strategy to grow in emerging markets may put us at risk due to the risks inherent in operating in
such markets. In particular, we have grown over an extended period of time, and intend as part of our strategy to
continue to grow, in India and Brazil. Our international operations are subject to a number of risks inherent in
operating abroad, including, but not limited to:

risks with respect to currency exchange rate fluctuations (as more fully discussed above);

risks to our liquidity if the European monetary union were to dissolve and we were unable to renegotiate European
factoring agreements;

{ocal economic and political conditions;
disruptions of capital and trading markets;

possible terrorist attacks or acts of aggression that could affect vehicle production or the availability of raw materials
or supplies;

restrictive governmental actions (such as restrictions on transfer of funds and trade protection measures, including
export duties, quotas and customs duties and tariffs);

changes in legal or regulatory requirements;
tmport or export licensing requirements;
{imitations on the repatriation of funds;

difficulty in obtaining distribution and support;
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nationalization;

the laws and policies of the United States affecting trade, foreign investment and loans;
the ability to attract and retain qualified personnel;

tax laws; and

{abor disruptions.

There can be no assurance that these risks will not have a material adverse impact on our ability to increase or
maintain our foreign sales or on our financial condition or results of operations.
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A violation of the financial covenants in our senior secured credit facility could result in a default thereunder and
could lead to an acceleration of our obligations under this facility and, potentially, other indebtedness.

Our ability to borrow under our existing financing arrangements depends on our compliance with covenants in the
related agreements, and on our performance against covenants in our bank credit facility that require compliance with
certain financial ratios as of the end of each fiscal quarter. To the extent that we are unable to maintain compliance
with these requirements or to perform against the financial ratio covenants due to one or more of the various risk
factors discussed herein or otherwise, our ability to borrow, and our liquidity, would be adversely impacted.
Availability under the revolving credit facility is subject to a collateral test, performed quarterly, pursuant to which
borrowings on the revolving credit facility cannot exceed 1.0x the collateral test value. Availability under the
revolving credit facility is also subject to certain financial covenants based on (i) the ratio of our priority debt
(consisting principally of amounts outstanding under the revolving credit facility, term loan, U.S. accounts receivable
securitization and factoring programs, and third-party non-working capital foreign debt) to EBITDA and (ii) the
amount of annual capital expenditures. We are required to maintain a total priority-debt-to-EBITDA ratio, as defined
in the agreement, of not more than 2.25 to 1.00 as of the last day of each fiscal quarter through maturity.

If an amendment or waiver is needed (in the event we do not meet one of these covenants) and not obtained, we
would be in violation of that covenant, and the lenders would have the right to accelerate the obligations upon the vote
of the lenders holding more than 50% of outstanding loans thereunder. A default under the senior secured credit
facility could also constitute a default under our outstanding convertible notes as well as our U.S. receivables facility
and could result in the acceleration of these obligations. In addition, a default under our senior secured credit facility
could result in a cross-default or the acceleration of our payment obligations under other financing agreements. If our
obligations under our senior secured credit facility and other financing arrangements are accelerated as described
above, our assets and cash flow may be insufficient to fully repay these obligations, and the lenders under our senior
secured credit facility could institute foreclosure proceedings against our assets.

Our strategic initiatives may be unsuccessful, may take longer than anticipated, or may result in unanticipated costs.

The success and timing of any future divestitures and acquisitions will depend on a variety of factors, many of which
are not within our control. If we engage in acquisitions, we may finance these transactions by issuing additional debt
or equity securities. The additional debt from any such acquisitions, if consummated, could increase our debt to
capitalization ratio. In addition, the ultimate benefit of any acquisition would depend on our ability to successfully
integrate the acquired entity or assets into our existing business and to achieve any projected synergies. There is no
assurance that the total costs and total cash costs associated with any current and future restructuring will not exceed
our estimates, or that we will be able to achieve the intended benefits of these restructurings.

We are exposed to environmental, health and safety and product liabilities.

Our business is subject to liabilities with respect to environmental and health and safety matters. In addition, we are
required to comply with federal, state, local and foreign laws and regulations governing the protection of the
environment and health and safety, and we could be held liable for damages arising out of human exposure to
hazardous substances or other environmental or natural resource damages. Environmental health and safety laws and
regulations are complex, change frequently and tend to be increasingly stringent. As a result, our future costs to
comply with such laws may increase significantly. There is also an inherent risk of exposure to warranty and product
liability claims, as well as product recalls, in the commercial and automotive vehicle industry if our products fail to
perform to specifications or are alleged to cause property damage, injury or death.

With respect to environmental liabilities, we have been designated as a potentially responsible party at nine Superfund
sites (excluding sites as to which our records disclose no involvement or as to which our liability has been finally
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determined). In addition to the Superfund sites, various other lawsuits, claims and proceedings have been asserted
against us alleging violations of federal, state and local and foreign environmental protection requirements or seeking
remediation of alleged environmental impairments. We have established reserves for these liabilities when we
determine that the company has a probable obligation and we can reasonably estimate it, but the process of estimating
environmental liabilities is complex and dependent on evolving physical and scientific data at the site, uncertainties as
to remedies and technologies to be used, and the outcome of discussions with regulatory agencies. The actual amount
of costs or damages for which we may be held responsible could materially exceed our current estimates because of
these and other uncertainties which make it difficult to predict actual costs accurately. In future periods, new laws and
regulations, changes in remediation plans, advances in technology and additional information about the ultimate
clean-up remedy could significantly change our estimates and have a material impact on our financial position and
results of operations. Management cannot assess the possible effect of compliance with future requirements.
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We are exposed to asbestos litigation liability.

One of our subsidiaries, Maremont Corporation, manufactured friction products containing asbestos from 1953
through 1977, when it sold its friction product business. We acquired Maremont in 1986. Maremont and many other
companies are defendants in suits brought by individuals claiming personal injuries as a result of exposure to
asbestos-containing products. Additionally, one of our subsidiaries, Rockwell International, along with many other
companies, have also been named as a defendant in lawsuits alleging personal injury as a result of exposure to
asbestos used in certain components of Rockwell products manufactured many years ago. Liability for these claims
was transferred to us at the time of the spin-off of Rockwell's automotive business to Meritor in 1997.

The uncertainties of asbestos claim litigation, the outcome of litigation with insurance companies regarding the scope
of coverage and the long-term solvency of our insurance carriers make it difficult to predict accurately the ultimate
resolution of asbestos claims. The possibility of adverse rulings or new legislation affecting asbestos claim litigation
or the settlement process increases that uncertainty. Although we have established reserves to address asbestos
liability and corresponding receivables for recoveries from our insurance carriers, if our assumptions with respect to
the nature of pending and future claims, the cost to resolve claims and the amount of available insurance prove to be
incorrect, the actual amount of liability for asbestos-related claims, and the effect on us, could differ materially from
our current estimates and, therefore, could have a material impact on our financial position and results of operations.

We are exposed to the rising cost of pension and other postemployment benefits.

The commercial vehicle industry, like other industries, continues to be impacted by the cost of pension and other
postemployment benefits. In estimating our expected obligations under our pension and postemployment benefit
plans, we make certain assumptions as to economic and demographic factors, such as discount rates, investment
returns and health care cost trends. If actual experience of these factors is worse than our assumptions, our obligations
could grow which could in turn increase the amount of mandatory contributions to these plans in the coming years.
Our pension plans and other postemployment benefits are underfunded by $219 million and $479 million,
respectively, as of September 30, 2014.

Impairment in the carrying value of long-lived assets and goodwill could negatively affect our operating results and
financial condition.

We have a significant amount of long-lived assets and goodwill on our consolidated balance sheet. Under generally
accepted accounting principles, long-lived assets, excluding goodwill, are required to be reviewed for impairment
whenever adverse events or changes in circumstances indicate a possible impairment. If business conditions or other
factors cause our operating results and cash flows to decline, we may be required to record non-cash impairment
charges. Goodwill must be evaluated for impairment at least annually. If the carrying value of our reporting units
exceeds their current fair value, the goodwill is considered impaired and is reduced to fair value via a non-cash charge
to earnings. Events and conditions that could result in impairment in the value of our long-lived assets and goodwill
include changes impacting the industries in which we operate, particularly the impact of the current downturn in the
global economy, as well as competition and advances in technology, adverse changes in the regulatory environment,
or other factors leading to reduction in expected long-term sales or operating results. If the value of long-lived assets
or goodwill is impaired, our earnings and financial condition could be adversely affected.

The value of our deferred tax assets could become impaired, which could materially and adversely affect our results of
operations and financial condition.
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In accordance with the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Codification (ASC)
Topic 740 “Income Taxes,” each quarter we determine the probability of the realization of deferred tax assets, using
significant judgments and estimates with respect to, among other things, historical operating results, expectations of
future earnings and tax planning strategies. If we determine in the future that there is not sufficient positive evidence
to support the valuation of these assets, due to the risk factors described herein or other factors, we may be required to
adjust the valuation allowance to reduce our deferred tax assets. Such a reduction could result in material non-cash
expenses in the period in which the valuation allowance is adjusted and could have a material adverse effect on our
results of operations and financial condition. In addition, future changes in laws or regulations could have a material
impact on the company's overall tax position.
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Our overall effective tax rate is equal to our total tax expense as a percentage of our total earnings before tax.
However, tax expenses and benefits are determined separately for each tax paying component (an individual entity) or
group of entities that is consolidated for tax purposes in each jurisdiction. Losses in certain jurisdictions which have
valuation allowances against their deferred tax assets provide no current financial statement tax benefit unless required
under the intra-period allocation requirements of ASC Topic 740. As a result, changes in the mix of projected earnings
between jurisdictions, among other factors, could have a significant impact on our overall effective tax rate.

Our unrecognized tax benefits recorded in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 740 could significantly change.

FASB ASC Topic 740, “Income Taxes,” defines the confidence level that a tax position must meet in order to be
recognized in the financial statements. This topic requires that the tax effects of a position be recognized only if it is
"more-likely-than-not" to be sustained based solely on its technical merits as of the reporting date. The
more-likely-than-not threshold represents a positive assertion by management that a company is entitled to the
economic benefits of a tax position. If a tax position is not considered more-likely-than-not to be sustained based
solely on its technical merits, no benefits of the position are to be recognized. Moreover, the more-likely-than-not
threshold must continue to be met in each reporting period to support continued recognition of a benefit. In the event
that the more-likely-than-not threshold is not met, we would be required to change the relevant tax position which
could have an adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition.

Restriction on use of tax attributes from tax law “ownership change”

Section 382 of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, limits the ability of a corporation that undergoes
an “ownership change” to use its tax attributes, such as net operating losses and tax credits. In general, an “ownership
change” occurs if five percent shareholders (applying certain look-through rules) of an issuer's outstanding common
stock, collectively, increase their ownership percentage by more than fifty percentage points within any three year
period over such shareholders' lowest percentage ownership during this period. If we were to issue new shares of
stock, such new shares could contribute to such an “ownership change” under U.S. tax law. Moreover, not every event
that could contribute to such an “ownership change” is within our control. If an “ownership change” under Section 382
were to occur, our ability to utilize tax attributes in the future may be limited.

Assertions against us or our customers relating to intellectual property rights could materially impact our business.

Our industry is characterized by companies that hold large numbers of patents and other intellectual property rights
and that vigorously pursue, protect and enforce intellectual property rights. From time to time, third parties may assert
against us and our customers and distributors their patent and other intellectual property rights to technologies that are
important to our business.

Claims that our products or technology infringe third-party intellectual property rights, regardless of their merit or
resolution, are frequently costly to defend or settle and divert the efforts and attention of our management and
technical personnel. In addition, many of our supply agreements require us to indemnify our customers and
distributors from third-party infringement claims, which have in the past and may in the future require that we defend
those claims and might require that we pay damages in the case of adverse rulings. Claims of this sort also could harm
our relationships with our customers and might deter future customers from doing business with us. We do not know
whether we will prevail in these proceedings given the complex technical issues and inherent uncertainties in
intellectual property litigation. If any pending or future proceedings result in an adverse outcome, we could be
required to:

cease the manufacture, use or sale of the infringing products or technology;
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pay substantial damages for infringement;
expend significant resources to develop non-infringing products or technology;

license technology from the third-party claiming infringement, which license may not be available on commercially
reasonable terms, or at all;

enter into cross-licenses with our competitors, which could weaken our overall intellectual property portfolio;

lose the opportunity to license our technology to others or to collect royalty payments based upon successful
protection and assertion of our intellectual property against others;
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pay substantial damages to our customers or end users to discontinue use or replace infringing technology with
non-infringing technology; or

relinquish rights associated with one or more of our patent claims, if our claims are held invalid or otherwise
unenforceable.

Any of the foregoing results could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

We utilize a significant amount of intellectual property in our business. If we are unable to protect our intellectual
property, our business could be adversely affected.

Our success depends in part upon our ability to protect our intellectual property. To accomplish this, we rely on a
combination of intellectual property rights, including patents, trademarks and trade secrets, as well as customary
contractual protections with our customers, distributors, employees and consultants, and through security measures to
protect our trade secrets. We cannot guarantee that:

any of our present or future patents will not lapse or be invalidated, circumvented, challenged, abandoned or,
in the case of third-party patents licensed or sub-licensed to us, be licensed to others;

any of our pending or future patent applications will be issued or have the coverage originally sought;

our intellectual property rights will be enforced in jurisdictions where competition may be intense or where
legal protection may be weak; or

any of the trademarks, trade secrets or other intellectual property rights that we presently employ in our business will
not lapse or be invalidated, circumvented, challenged, abandoned or licensed to others.

In addition, we may not receive competitive advantages from the rights granted under our patents and other
intellectual property rights. Our competitors may develop technologies that are similar or superior to our proprietary
technologies, duplicate our proprietary technologies, or design around the patents we own or license. Our existing and
future patents may be circumvented, blocked, licensed to others, or challenged as to inventorship, ownership, scope,
validity or enforceability. Effective intellectual property protection may be unavailable or more limited in one or more
relevant jurisdictions relative to those protections available in the United States, or may not be applied for in one or
more relevant jurisdictions. If we pursue litigation to assert our intellectual property rights, an adverse decision in any
of these legal actions could limit our ability to assert our intellectual property rights, limit the value of our technology
or otherwise negatively impact our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We are a party to a number of patent and intellectual property license agreements. Some of these license agreements
require us to make one-time or periodic payments. We may need to obtain additional licenses or renew existing
license agreements in the future. We are unable to predict whether these license agreements can be obtained or
renewed on acceptable terms.

A failure of our information technology infrastructure could adversely impact our business and operations.

We recognize the increasing volume of cyber attacks and employ commercially practical efforts to provide reasonable
assurance such attacks are appropriately mitigated. Each year, we evaluate the threat profile of our industry to stay
abreast of trends and to provide reasonable assurance our existing countermeasures will address any new threats
identified. Despite our implementation of security measures, our IT systems and those of our service providers are
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vulnerable to circumstances beyond our reasonable control including acts of malfeasance, acts of terror, acts of
government, natural disasters, civil unrest, and denial of service attacks any of which may lead to the theft of our
intellectual property, trade secrets, or business disruption. To the extent that any disruption or security breach results
in a loss or damage to our data or an inappropriate disclosure of confidential information, it could cause significant
damage to our reputation, affect our relationships with our customers, suppliers and employees, and lead to claims
against the company and ultimately harm our business. Additionally, we may be required to incur significant costs to
protect against damage caused by these disruptions or security breaches in the future.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

None.
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Item 2. Properties.
At September 30, 2014, our operating segments, including all consolidated joint ventures, had the following facilities
in the United States, Europe, South America, Canada, Mexico and the Asia-Pacific region. For purposes of these

numbers, multiple facilities in one geographic location are counted as one facility.

Engineering Facilities,

Manufacturing Sales
Facilities Offices, Warehouses and
Service Centers
Commercial Truck & Industrial 20 16
Aftermarket & Trailer 8 8
Other — 4
Total 28 28

These facilities had an aggregate floor space of approximately 9.0 million square feet, substantially all of which is in
use. We owned approximately 60 percent and leased approximately 40 percent of this floor space. Substantially all of
our owned domestic plants and equipment are subject to liens securing our obligations under our revolving credit
facility with a group of banks (see Note 15 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements under Item 8. Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data). In the opinion of management, our properties have been well maintained, are in
sound operating condition and contain all equipment and facilities necessary to operate at present levels.

A summary of floor space (in square feet) of these facilities at September 30, 2014, (including new space under
construction) is as follows:

Owned Facilities Leased Facilities

Commercial Commercial
Location Truck & Afterrparket Other Truck & Afterrparket Other Total

. & Trailer . & Trailer

Industrial Industrial
United States 2,029,291 432,037 417,800 487,039 460,327 — 3,826,494
Canada — — — — 300,484 — 300,484
Europe 1,870,150 68,326 — 528,076 45,613 12,766 2,524,931
Asia-Pacific 173,155 — — 1,059,963 87,335 — 1,320,453
Latin America 494913 — — 571,743 50,024 — 1,116,680
Total 4,567,509 500,363 417,800 2,646,821 943,783 12,766 9,089,042

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

See Note 19 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements under Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary
Data for information with respect to three class action lawsuits filed against the company as a result of modifications
made to its retiree medical benefits.

See Note 22 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements under Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary
Data for information with respect to asbestos-related litigation.

§ee Item 1. Business, “Environmental Matters” and Note 22 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements under
Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data for information relating to environmental proceedings.
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On October 5, 2006, our subsidiary, Meritor Transmission LLC, and ZF Meritor LLC, a joint venture between Meritor
Transmission and ZF Friedrichshafen AG, filed a lawsuit against Eaton Corporation in the United States District
Court for the District of Delaware, alleging that Eaton had engaged in exclusionary, anticompetitive conduct in the
markets for heavy-duty truck transmissions, in violation of the U.S. antitrust laws. We were seeking an injunction
prohibiting Eaton from engaging in such anticompetitive conduct and monetary damages. On October 8, 2009, the
jury found that Eaton engaged in conduct that violated the Sherman and Clayton antitrust acts in the sale and
marketing of heavy-duty truck transmissions. The jury did not address the amount of damages. Following various
appeals, the case was scheduled to go to trial in the district court with respect to damages in June 2014. On June 20,
.2014, ZF Meritor and Meritor Transmission entered into a settlement agreement with Eaton, pursuant to which Eaton
agreed to pay $500 million to ZF Meritor, and ZF Meritor and Meritor Transmission agreed to dismiss all pending
antitrust litigation with Eaton. In July 2014, Meritor received net proceeds of $210 million representing our share
based on our ownership interest in ZF Meritor including a recovery of current and prior years' attorney expenses paid
by Meritor. ZF Meritor does not have any operating activities. Our pre-tax share of the settlement was $210 million
($209 million after-tax), of which $190 million was recognized as equity in earnings of ZF Meritor, and $20 million
for the recovery of legal expenses from ZF Meritor was recognized as a reduction of selling, general and
administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of operations. Proceeds from the settlement were used primarily
to pre-fund mandatory pension contributions in our U.S. and U.K. pension contributions in our U.S. and U.K. pension
plans.

On July 10, 2014, Sistemas Automotrices de Mexico, S.A. de C.V. (“Sisamex”), a Mexican joint venture between our
subsidiary Meritor Heavy Vehicle Systems, LLC (“Meritor HVS”) and Quimmco, S.A. de C.V. ("Quimmco"), filed a
lawsuit against Meritor HVS in the Northern District of Illinois, seeking, among other relief, a declaration of
Sisamex’s exclusive right to manufacture certain products and the components thereof for sale in Mexico. On July 13,
2014, Meritor HVS filed a lawsuit against Sisamex and Quimmco in the Northern District of Illinois, seeking, among
other relief, a declaration that Sisamex may not manufacture without Meritor HVS's consent the components at issue
in Sisamex's lawsuit and that Sisamex must instead purchase those components from Meritor HVS. On July 23, 2014,
the parties to the two actions filed a joint motion seeking an order that the two actions are related and that both actions
be heard before the same judge.

Various other lawsuits, claims and proceedings have been or may be instituted or asserted against Meritor or our
subsidiaries relating to the conduct of our business, including those pertaining to product liability, tax, warranty or
recall claims, intellectual property, safety and health, contract and employment matters. Although the outcome of
titigation cannot be predicted with certainty and some lawsuits, claims or proceedings may be disposed of unfavorably
to Meritor, management believes, after consulting with Sandra J. Quick, Esq., Meritor's General Counsel, that the
disposition of matters that are pending will not have a material effect on our business, financial condition or results of
operations.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.
Not applicable.
Item 4A. Executive Officers of the Registrant.

The name, age, positions and offices held with Meritor and principal occupations and employment during the past five
years of each of our executive officers as of November 19, 2014, are as follows:

Ivor J. Evans, 72 — Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer since August 2013 and was President from May
2013 until May 2014. Executive Chairman of the Board and Interim Chief Executive Officer from May 2013 until
August 2013. Mr. Evans has been a director since May 2005. He served as Vice Chairman of Union Pacific
Corporation from January 2004 until his retirement in March 2005, and served as a member of the Union Pacific

board of directors from 1999 to 2005. He had served as President and Chief Operating Officer of Union Pacific
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Railroad from 1998 until January 2004. From 1989 to 1998, he served in various executive positions at Emerson
Electric Company (technology and engineering applications), including Senior Vice President, Industrial Components
and Equipment. Prior to that, he was President of Blackstone Corp. (automotive components and systems) from 1985
to 1989 and, prior to that, spent 21 years serving in key operations roles for General Motors Corporation (automotive).
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Kevin Nowlan, 42 — Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer since May 2013. Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer from February 2013 until April 2013. Vice President and Controller of Meritor from December 2010
to February 2013 and Vice President and Treasurer of Meritor from July 2009 until his appointment as Vice President
and Controller. From 2008 to 2009, served as Assistant Treasurer of Meritor and from 2007 to 2008 served as Vice
President of Shared Services of Meritor. Prior to that, director of Capital Planning for General Motors Acceptance
Corp. (“GMAC”) from 2006 to 2007 and worked in various roles at GMAC and General Motors Company since 1995.

Jeffrey A. Craig, 54 — President and Chief Operating Officer since June 2014, Senior Vice President and President of
Commercial Truck and Industrial from February 2013 until May 2014. Senior Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer from January 2009 to January 2013. Acting Controller from May 2008 to January 2009. Senior Vice President
and Controller from July 2007 to May 2008. Vice President and Controller of Meritor from May 2006 to July 2007;
and President and Chief Executive Officer of GMAC Commercial Finance (commercial lending business) from 2001
to May 2006.

Sandra Quick, 48— Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary since February 2014. Group Vice
President and General Counsel for the Electronics and Interiors Division of Johnson Controls, Inc. from April 2012
until February 2014. Vice President and General Counsel for the North American and South American operations of
Johnson Controls Automotive Experience Group from August 2007 until April 2012.

There are no family relationships, as defined in Item 401 of Regulation S-K, between any of the above executive
officers and any director, executive officer or person nominated to become a director or executive officer. No officer
of Meritor was selected pursuant to any arrangement or understanding between him or her and any person other than
Meritor. All executive officers are elected annually.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity
Securities

Meritor's common stock, par value $1 per share (“Common Stock™), is listed on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”)
and trades under the symbol "MTOR." On November 17, 2014, there were 16,976 shareowners of record of Meritor's
Common Stock.

The high and low sale prices per share of Meritor Common Stock for each quarter of fiscal years 2014 and 2013 were
as follows:

Fiscal Year 2014 Fiscal Year 2013
Quarter Ended High Low High Low
December 31 $9.93 $6.61 $4.93 $3.94
March 31 12.68 941 5.55 4.19
June 30 14.75 11.17 7.42 4.34
September 30 14.09 11.41 8.40 6.77

There were no dividends declared and paid in fiscal year 2014 or in fiscal year 2013. Our payment of cash dividends
and the amount of the dividend are subject to review and change at the discretion of our Board of Directors.

Our revolving credit facility permits us to declare and pay up to $40 million of dividends in any fiscal year provided
that no default or unmatured default, as defined in the agreement, has occurred and is continuing at the date of
declaration or payment.

Additionally, our indentures permit us to pay dividends under the following primary conditions:

.if a default on the notes, as defined in the indentures, has not occurred and is not continuing or shall not occur as a
consequence of the payment;

if the interest coverage ratio, as defined in the indentures, is greater than 2.00 to 1.00 after giving effect to the
dividend;

tf the cumulative amount of the dividends paid does not exceed certain cumulative cash and earnings measurements;
if the dividends are less than $60 million per fiscal year (with a carryover to the next fiscal year of up to $60 million if
unused in the current fiscal year); and

.if after giving effect to the dividend, the total leverage ratio, as defined in the indenture, would not exceed 4.00 to
1.00.

See Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters for
information on securities authorized for issuance under equity compensation plans.

Issuer repurchases

The independent trustee of our 401(k) plans purchases shares in the open market to fund investments by employees in
our common stock, one of the investment options available under such plans, and any matching contributions in
company stock we provide under certain of such plans. In addition, our stock incentive plans permit payment of an
option exercise price by means of cashless exercise through a broker and permit the satisfaction of the minimum
statutory tax obligations upon exercise of options and the vesting of restricted stock units through stock withholding.
However, the company does not believe such purchases or transactions are issuer repurchases for the purposes of this
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Item 5 of this Report on Form 10-K. In addition, our stock incentive plans also permit the satisfaction of tax
obligations upon the vesting of restricted stock through stock withholding. There were no shares withheld in the fourth
quarter of fiscal year 2014.
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Shareowner Return Performance Presentation
The line graph below compares the cumulative total shareowner return of the S&P 500, Meritor, Inc. and the peer

group of companies for the period from September 30, 2009 to September 30, 2014, assuming a fixed investment of
$100 at the respective closing prices on the last day of each fiscal year and reinvestment of cash dividends.

9/09 9/10 9/11 9/12 9/13 9/14

Meritor, Inc. 100.00  198.72  90.28 54.22 100.51  138.75
S&P 500 100.00 110.16 11142 145.07 173.13  207.30
Peer Group! 100.00 199.72  177.60  208.27 313.80 317.33

The peer group consists of representative commercial vehicle suppliers of approximately comparable products to

(1) Meritor. The peer group consists of Accuride Corporation, Commercial Vehicle Group, Inc., Cummins Inc., Dana
Holding Corporation, Haldex AB, Modine Manufacturing Company, SAF-Holland SA, Stoneridge, Inc., and
Wabco Holdings Inc.

The information included under the heading “Shareowner Return Performance Presentation” is not to be treated as
“soliciting material” or as “filed” with the SEC, and is not incorporated by reference into any filing by the company under
the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 that is made on, before or after the date of filing of

this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data.

The following sets forth selected consolidated financial data. The data should be read in conjunction with the
information included under Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations and Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data below. Prior periods have been recast to reflect
our Mascot business as discontinued operations.

Year Ended September 30,

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

(in millions, except per share amounts)
SUMMARY OF OPERATIONS
Sales
Commercial Truck & Industrial $2,980 $2,920 $3,613 $3,828 $2.826
Aftermarket & Trailer 920 871 906 915 836
Intersegment Sales (134 ) (119 ) (135 ) (159 ) (164
Total Sales $3,766 $3,672 $4,384 $4,584 $3,498
Operating Income $217 $7 $173 $172 $131
Income (Loss) Before Income Taxes 315 51 137 157 75
Net Income Attributable to Noncontrolling Interests (5 ) (2 ) (11 ) (17 ) (14
Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Meritor, Inc.:
Income (Loss) from Continuing Operations $279 $(15 ) $69 $64 $13
Loss from Discontinued Operations (30 ) (7 ) (17 ) (1 ) (1
Net Income (Loss) $249 $(22 ) $52 $63 $12
BASIC EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE
Continuing Operations $2.86 $0.15 ) $0.72 $0.68 $0.15
Discontinued Operations (0.31 ) (0.07 ) (0.18 ) (0.01 ) (0.01
Basic Earnings (Loss) per Share $2.55 $(0.22 ) $0.54 $0.67 $0.14
DILUTED EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE
Continuing Operations $2.81 $0.15 ) $0.71 $0.66 $0.15
Discontinued Operations (0.30 ) (0.07 ) (0.17 ) (0.01 ) (0.01
Diluted Earnings (Loss) per Share $2.51 $(0.22 ) $0.54 $0.65 $0.14
FINANCIAL POSITION AT SEPTEMBER 30
Total Assets $2,502 $2,570 $2,501 $2,663 $2,879
Short-term Debt 7 13 18 84 —
Long-term Debt 965 1,125 1,042 950 1,029
29
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Income (loss) from continuing operations attributable to Meritor, Inc. in the selected financial data information
presented above includes the following items specific to the period of occurrence (in millions):

Year Ended September 30,
2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
Pretax items:
Restructuring costs $(10 ) $(23 ) $(39 ) $(22 ) $(6
Impact of curtailment gain, pension settlement loss and

. 15 (109 ) — — 7
pension plan freeze
Antitrust settlement with Eaton (including recovery of past 209 o . o o
legal fees)
Gain on sale of equity investment — 125 — — —
Specific warranty contingency, net of supplier recovery 8 ) (7 ) — — —
Loss on debt extinguishment (31 ) (19 ) — — —
Gain on sale of property — — 16 — —
Asbestos-related liability remeasurement (20 ) (7 ) (18 ) — —
Non-operating gains, net — 3 7 10 2
After tax items:
Deferred tax asset valuation allowance benefit (expense) — — — — 9

Loss from discontinued operations attributable to Meritor, Inc. in the selected financial data information presented
above includes the following items specific to the period of occurrence (in millions):

Year Ended September 30,
2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
Pretax items:
Gain (loss) on divestitures of businesses, net $(23 ) $— $(1 ) $19 $5
Restructuring costs — €] ) (1 ) 9 ) (6
Asset impairment charges — — — — 2
Charge for contingency and indemnity obligation — — (10 ) 4 ) —
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditions and Results of Operations.

Overview

Meritor, Inc. (the "company", "our", "we", or "Meritor"), headquartered in Troy, Michigan, is a premier global
supplier of a broad range of integrated systems, modules and components to original equipment manufacturers
(“OEMs”) and the aftermarket for the commercial vehicle, transportation and industrial sectors. The company serves
commercial truck, trailer, military, bus and coach, construction, and other industrial OEMs and certain aftermarkets.
Meritor common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the ticker symbol MTOR.

Our sales for fiscal year 2014 were $3,766 million, an increase compared to $3,672 million in the prior year. We
experienced higher sales driven primarily by higher truck production volumes in North America offset by lower
commercial truck production in South America and a step down in the company's revenue from the Family of Medium
Tactical Vehicles (FMTV) program. Net income for the year ended September 30, 2014 was $249 million compared
to a net loss of $22 million in the prior year. The increase in net income is primarily due to our share of the proceeds
recognized by ZF Meritor LLC, a joint venture between our subsidiary Meritor Transmission LLC and ZF
Friedrichshafen, in connection with the settlement of an antitrust lawsuit against Eaton Corporation in fiscal year 2014
as well as improved operating performance from prior year.

Adjusted EBITDA (see Non-GAAP Financial Measures below) for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2014 was
$314 million compared to $264 million in fiscal year 2013. Our Adjusted EBITDA margin in fiscal year 2014 was 8.3
percent compared to 7.2 percent in the same period a year ago. Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA margin
increased compared to the prior year primarily as a result of improved material and operating performance, pricing
and slightly higher revenue, partially offset by the unfavorable sales mix.

Cash flows provided by operating activities were $215 million in fiscal year 2014 compared to cash flows used for
operating activities of $96 million in the prior fiscal year. This improvement is primarily due to improvement in
earnings from operations including $209 million in proceeds received from the settlement of the Eaton antitrust
litigation, partially offset by pension and retiree medical contributions, including $134 million associated with the
voluntary pre-funding of the next three years of mandatory contributions in our U.S. and U.K. pension plans, and
decrease in working capital compared to fiscal year 2013.

Capital Market Transactions and Revolving Credit Facility

During the second quarter of fiscal year 2014, we issued $225 million of 6.25 percent notes due 2024. Net proceeds
and balance sheet cash were used to complete the redemption, at a premium, of $250 million of our 10.625 percent
notes due 2018 and for repayment of our remaining $41 million term loan balance. These transactions resulted in a net
loss on debt extinguishment of $21 million. The net loss on debt extinguishment is included in interest expense, net in
the consolidated statement of operations.

On August 5, 2014, we repurchased $38 million of our 4.0 percent convertible notes due February 15, 2027. The notes
were purchased at a premium of 7 percent of their principal amount. The repurchase of $38 million of our 4.0 percent
convertible notes was accounted for as an extinguishment of debt, and accordingly, we recognized a net loss on debt
extinguishment of $5 million. The net loss on debt extinguishment is included in interest expense, net in the
consolidated statement of operations.

On September 20, 2014, we completed the redemption of our 8.125 percent notes due September 15, 2015. The notes
were redeemed at a premium of 7 percent of their principal amount. The repurchase of $84 million of our 8.125
percent notes was accounted for as an extinguishment of debt, and accordingly, we recognized a net loss on debt
extinguishment of $5 million. The net loss on debt extinguishment is included in interest expense, net in the
consolidated statement of operations.
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We also amended our revolving credit agreement in February 2014. The maturity date was extended to February 2019,
and the facility size was increased to $499 million through April 2017. The facility size then decreases to $410 million
through February 2019. This amendment also reduced the applicable interest rate margins by 75 basis points and
increased the priority debt-to-EBITDA covenant from 2.0x to 2.25x through maturity.

On September 12, 2014, we entered into Amendment No. 1 to the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement
and Second Amended and Restated Pledge and Security Agreement (“Amendment No. 1”°), among the company,
ArvinMeritor Finance Ireland, the financial institutions party thereto and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as
Administrative Agent. Amendment No. 1, among other things, (i) permits us to repurchase shares of capital stock for a
purchase price not to exceed the lesser of (a) $210,000,000, and (b) the amount of our free cash flow for the period
commencing on June 30, 2014 through and including the last day of the most recently ended fiscal quarter prior to the
share repurchase date, provided that our net debt (including retirement liabilities) after giving effect to such
repurchase is less than $1,500,000,000 and (ii) resets the amount of certain permitted debt repurchases under the
restricted payments covenant to $100,000,000 as of the date of Amendment No. 1.
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Equity in Earnings of ZF Meritor

In June 2014, ZF Meritor LLC, a joint venture between ZF Friedrichshafen AG and our subsidiary, Meritor
Transmission LLC ("Meritor Transmission"), entered into a settlement agreement with Eaton Corporation relating to
an antitrust lawsuit filed by ZF Meritor in 2006. Pursuant to the terms of the settlement agreement, Eaton agreed to
pay $500 million to ZF Meritor. In July 2014, ZF Meritor received proceeds of $400 million, net of attorney's
contingency fees. In July 2014, we received proceeds of $210 million representing our share based on our ownership
interest in ZF Meritor and including a recovery of current and prior years' attorney expenses paid by Meritor. ZF
Meritor and Meritor Transmission agreed to dismiss all pending antitrust litigation with Eaton. ZF Meritor does not
have any operating activities.

Our pre-tax share of the settlement was $210 million ($209 million after-tax), of which $190 million was recognized
as equity in earnings of ZF Meritor, and $20 million for the recovery of legal expenses from ZF Meritor was
recognized as a reduction of selling, general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of operations.
The proceeds from the settlement were used primarily to voluntarily pre-fund the next three years of mandatory
pension contributions in our U.S. and U.K. pension plans.

Restructuring Actions - South America Labor Reduction

In the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2014, we announced a labor headcount reduction plan to manage our cost structure
in South America to address softening economic conditions in the region. We recognized $7 million in restructuring
charges related to this action. Total restructuring charges, including other actions recognized in fiscal year 2014 were
$10 million, all of which related to severance charges.

Mascot Divestiture

On August 15, 2014, we completed our strategic review of certain remanufacturing product lines within the
aftermarket business in North America, and the Board of Directors concluded that we should exit the Mascot business.
Mascot is a remanufacturer and distributor of all makes differentials, transmissions and steering gears. We sold
substantially all of the inventory and other assets of the Mascot business, incurring a loss of $23 million, and
liquidated the remaining assets. The results of operations and cash flows of our Mascot business are presented in
discontinued operations in the consolidated statement of operations, consolidated statement of cash flows, and prior
period information has been recast to reflect this presentation.

Retiree Medical and Retiree Life Insurance Actions

During the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2014, we amended our retiree medical and retiree life insurance plan in the
United States to cease retiree medical coverage for salaried and non-union hourly employees under the age of 65 and
eliminate retiree life insurance coverage with face amounts ranging from $3,750 to $15,000, effective January 1, 2015.
The amendment triggered a curtailment in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2014, which immediately reduced our
retiree medical liability by $16 million (i.e., a curtailment gain) and reduced retiree medical expense by $15 million.
The reduction in expense was primarily attributable to the required immediate recognition of negative prior service
costs which were previously being amortized into net periodic expense over the active participants' remaining average
service life. The $16 million reduction to the retiree medical liability established a new negative prior service cost
base, which will be amortized into net period expense over the remaining average service life of approximately 8
years.

Asbestos

During the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2014, we incurred a $20 million charge associated with the re-measurement of
our asbestos liabilities net of insurance recoveries at year end. The increase in our fiscal year 2014 liabilities is
primarily due to increasing claim filings and higher projected defense costs. Management is actively trying to mitigate
its exposure to asbestos related liabilities through renegotiated contracts with national and regional defense firms to
lower costs and active litigation against insurers that are disputing coverage.
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Trends and Uncertainties
Industry Production Volumes

The following table reflects estimated commercial truck production volumes for selected original equipment (OE)
markets based on available sources and management's estimates.

Year Ended September 30,
2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
Estimated Commercial Truck production (in thousands):

North America, Heavy-Duty Trucks 281 243 295 224 146
North America, Medium-Duty Trucks 213 197 182 159 114
Western Europe, Heavy- and Medium-Duty Trucks 402 383 394 407 266
South America, Heavy- and Medium- Duty Trucks 166 186 165 204 179

During fiscal year 2015, we expect a modest increase in production volumes in North America compared to the levels
experienced in fiscal year 2014. We anticipate a significant decrease in production volumes in South America
resulting from continued economic uncertainty. We expect production volumes in Europe to soften compared to the
levels experienced in fiscal year 2014. Production volumes in China are expected to increase slightly during fiscal
year 2015 compared to levels experienced in fiscal year 2014. We expect the market in India to be up in fiscal year
2015 due to an improving economic climate.

Sales for our primary military program were at their peak during the third quarter of fiscal year 2012 and began to
decline in fiscal year 2013. The program is expected to continue to wind down in 2015. We are working to secure our
participation in new military programs with various OEMs. However, failure to secure new military contracts could
have a longer-term negative impact on our Commercial Truck and Industrial Segment. In addition, even if sales of our
military programs do return to historical levels, the profitability on these sales could be lower than what we have
recognized in recent periods.

Other

On October 2, 2014, we entered into an agreement with Volvo (our largest global customer) regarding our contract
covering axle supply in Europe and South America through December 31, 2021 and axle supply in Australia through
May 31, 2019. These agreements replace existing agreements which expired on October 4, 2014. In addition, we
entered into agreements with Volvo to extend and amend our existing agreements with respect to the supply of axles
and drivelines in North America through May 31, 2019.

Industry-Wide Issues
Our business continues to address a number of other challenging industry-wide issues including the following:
Uncertainty around the global market outlook;
Volatility in price and availability of steel, components and other
commodities;
Disruptions in the financial markets and their impact on the availability and cost of credit;
Volatile energy and increasing transportation
costs;
{mpact of currency exchange rate volatility;
€Consolidation and globalization of OEMs and their suppliers; and
Significant pension and retiree medical health care costs.
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Other
Other significant factors that could affect our results and liquidity in fiscal year 2015 and beyond include:
Significant contract awards or losses of existing contracts or failure to negotiate acceptable terms in contract renewals;
Failure to obtain new business;
Failure to secure new military contracts as our primary military program winds down;
Ability to manage possible adverse effects on our European operations, or financing arrangements related thereto, in
the event one or more countries exit the European monetary union;
Ability to work with our customers to manage rapidly changing production volumes;
Ability to recover and timing of recovery of steel price and other cost increases from our customers;
Any unplanned extended shutdowns or production interruptions by us, our customers or our suppliers;
A significant deterioration or slowdown in economic activity in the key markets in which we operate;
Any costs associated with the divesture or wind down of any portion of our businesses;
Higher-than-planned price reductions to our customers;
Potential price increases from our suppliers;
Additional restructuring actions and the timing and recognition of restructuring charges, including any actions
associated with the prolonged softness in markets in which we operate;
Higher-than-planned warranty expenses, including the outcome of known or potential recall campaigns;
Our ability to implement planned productivity, cost reduction, and other margin improvement initiatives;
Uncertainties of asbestos claim litigation and the outcome of litigation with insurance companies regarding the scope
of coverage and the long-term solvency of our insurance carriers; and
Restrictive government actions by foreign countries (such as restrictions on transfer of funds and trade
protection measures, including export duties, quotas and customs duties and tariffs).

NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES

In addition to the results reported in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
(GAAP), we have provided information regarding non-GAAP financial measures. These non-GAAP financial
measures include Adjusted income (loss) from continuing operations, Adjusted diluted earnings (loss) per share from
continuing operations, Adjusted EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA margin, Free cash flow, and Net debt including
retirement liabilities.

Adjusted income (loss) from continuing operations and Adjusted diluted earnings (loss) per share from continuing
operations are defined as reported income or loss from continuing operations and reported diluted earnings or loss per
share from continuing operations before restructuring expenses, asset impairment charges and other special items as
determined by management. Adjusted EBITDA is defined as income (loss) from continuing operations before interest,
income taxes, depreciation and amortization, non-controlling interests in consolidated joint ventures, loss on sale of
receivables, restructuring expenses, asset impairment charges and other special items as determined by management.
Adjusted EBITDA margin is defined as Adjusted EBITDA divided by consolidated sales from continuing operations.
Free cash flow is defined as cash flows provided by (used for) operating activities less capital expenditures. Net debt
including retirement liabilities is defined as total debt plus pension assets, pension liability, retiree medical liability
and other retirement benefits less cash and cash equivalents.
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Management believes these non-GAAP financial measures are useful to both management and investors in their
analysis of the company's financial position and results of operations. In particular, management believes that
Adjusted EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA margin and Adjusted diluted earnings (loss) per share from continuing
operations are meaningful measures of performance as they are commonly utilized by management and the investment
community to analyze operating performance in our industry. Further, management uses Adjusted EBITDA for
planning and forecasting future periods. In addition, we use Segment EBITDA as the primary basis for the Chief
Operating Decision Maker (CODM) to evaluate the performance of each of our reportable segments. Segment
EBITDA is defined as income (loss) from continuing operations before interest expense, income taxes, depreciation
and amortization, non-controlling interests in consolidated joint ventures, loss on sale of receivables, restructuring
expense and asset impairment charges. Management believes that free cash flow is useful in analyzing our ability to
service and repay debt and return value directly to shareholders. Net debt, including retirement liabilities, is a specific
financial measure which is part of our three-year plan, M2016, to reduce debt and other balance sheet liabilities.

Adjusted income (loss) from continuing operations and Adjusted diluted earnings (loss) per share from continuing
operations and Adjusted EBITDA should not be considered a substitute for the reported results prepared in accordance
with GAAP and should not be considered as an alternative to net income as an indicator of our operating performance
or to cash flows as a measure of liquidity. Free cash flow should not be considered a substitute for cash provided by
(used for) operating activities, or other cash flow statement data prepared in accordance with GAAP, or as a measure
of financial position or liquidity. In addition, these non-GAAP cash flow measures do not reflect cash used to repay
debt or cash received from the divestitures of businesses or sales of other assets and thus do not reflect funds available
for investment or other discretionary uses. These non-GAAP financial measures, as determined and presented by the
company, may not be comparable to related or similarly titled measures reported by other companies. Net debt should
not be considered a substitute for total debt as reported on the balance sheet. Set forth below are reconciliations of
these non-GAAP financial measures to the most directly comparable financial measures calculated in accordance with
GAAP.

Adjusted income (loss) from continuing operations attributable to the company and adjusted diluted earnings (loss)
per share from continuing operations are reconciled to income (loss) from continuing operations attributable to the
company and diluted earnings (loss) per share from continuing operations below (in millions, except per share
amounts).

Year Ended September 30,

2014 2013 @ 2012 @
Adjusted income from continuing operations attributable to the company, $101 $41 $110
net of tax
Antitrust settlement with Eaton (1) 208 — —
Restructuring costs (7 ) (22 ) (39 )
Gain on sale of property — — 16
Specific warranty contingency, net of supplier recovery 8 @ ) —
Pension settlement losses — (100 ) —
Asbestos-related liability remeasurement — — (18 )
Gain on sale of equity investment — 92 —
Loss on debt extinguishment (31 ) (19 ) —
Income (loss) from continuing operations attributable to the company $279 $(15 ) $60
Adjusted diluted earnings per share from continuing operations $1.02 $0.42 $1.13
Impact of adjustments on diluted earnings per share 1.79 (0.57 ) (0.42 )

Diluted earnings (loss) per share from continuing operations $2.81 $(0.15 ) $0.71

() Adjustment associated with our share of the antitrust settlement with Eaton less legal expenses incurred in fiscal
year 2014.
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2> Amounts for prior periods have been recast for discontinued operations.
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Free cash flow is reconciled to cash flows provided by (used for) operating activities below (in millions).

Cash provided by (used for) operating activities

Capital expenditures
Free cash flow

Net debt, including retirement liabilities, is reconciled to total debt (in millions).

Short-term debt
Long-term debt
Total debt

Pension assets - non-current
Pension liability - current
Pension liability - non-current
Pension liability

Retiree medical liability - current
Retiree medical liability - non-current
Retire medical liability

Other retirement benefits - current
Other retirement benefits - non-current

Subtotal

Less: Cash and cash equivalents
Net debt, including retirement liabilities

36

Year Ended September 30,
2014 2013 2012
$215 $096 ) $77
(77 ) (54 ) (89
$138 $(150 ) $(12
September 30,
2014 2013
$7 $13
965 1,125
972 1,138
(104 (55
8 9
315 387
219 341
33 37
446 476
479 513
2 2
14 23
1,686 2,017
(247 (318
$1,439 $1,699

)
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Adjusted EBITDA is reconciled to net income attributable to Meritor, Inc. in “Results of Operations” below.
Results of Operations

The following is a summary of our financial results for the last three fiscal years.

Year Ended September 30,
2014 2013 ® 2012 ®
(in millions, except per share amounts)
Sales:
Commercial Truck & Industrial $2,980 $2.920 $3,613
Aftermarket & Trailer 920 871 906
Intersegment Sales (134 ) (119 ) (135 )
SALES $3,766 $3,672 $4,384
SEGMENT EBITDA:
Commercial Truck & Industrial $218 $192 $270
Aftermarket & Trailer 106 87 81
SEGMENT EBITDA 324 279 351
Unallocated legacy and corporate costs, net (1) (10 ) (15 ) (6 )
ADJUSTED EBITDA 314 264 345
Interest expense, net (130 ) (126 ) (95 )
Provision for income taxes (31 ) (64 ) (57 )
Depreciation and amortization (67 ) (67 ) (63 )
Restructuring costs (10 ) (23 ) (39 )
Loss on sale of receivables (8 ) (6 ) 9 )
Pension settlement losses — (109 ) —
Antitrust settlement with Eaton, net of tax ® 208 — —
Gain on sale of equity investment — 125 —
Specific warranty contingency, net of supplier recovery 8 7 ) —
Gain on sale of property — — 16
Asbestos-related liability remeasurement — — (18 )
Noncontrolling interests 5 ) 2 ) (11 )
INCOME (LOSS) FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS, attributable
. 279 (15 ) 69
to Meritor, Inc.
LOSS FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS, net of tax, (30 ) (7 ) (17 )
attributable to Meritor, Inc.
NET INCOME (LOSS) attributable to Meritor, Inc. $249 $(22 ) $52
DILUTED EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE, attributable to Meritor,
Inc.
Continuing operations $2.81 $(0.15 ) $0.71
Discontinued operations (0.30 ) (0.07 ) (0.17 )
Diluted earnings (loss) per share $2.51 $(0.22 ) $0.54
DILUTED AVERAGE COMMON SHARES OUTSTANDING 99.2 97.1 97.2

Unallocated legacy and corporate costs, net represents items that are not directly related to our business segments.

(1y These costs primarily include asbestos-related charges associated with our year end liability remeasurement,
pension and retiree medical costs associated with sold businesses and other legacy costs for environmental and
product liability charges.
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(2) Adjustment associated with our share of the antitrust settlement with Eaton less legal expenses incurred in fiscal
year 2014.

() Amounts for prior periods have been recast for discontinued operations.

Fiscal Year 2014 Compared to Fiscal Year 2013

Sales

The following table reflects total company and business segment sales for fiscal years 2014 and 2013. The
reconciliation is intended to reflect the trend in business segment sales and to illustrate the impact that changes in

foreign currency exchange rates, volumes and other factors had on sales. Business segment sales include intersegment
sales (in millions).

Dollar Change Due
To
Dollar % Volume
2014 2013 Change Change Currency / Other

Sales:
Commercial Truck & Industrial $2,980 $2,920 $60 2 % $41 ) $101
Aftermarket & Trailer 920 871 49 6 % 4 45
Intersegment Sales (134 ) (119 ) (15 ) 13 % (10 ) (5 )
TOTAL SALES $3,766  $3,672 $94 3 % $(47 ) $141

Commercial Truck & Industrial sales were $2,980 million in fiscal year 2014, up 2 percent from fiscal year 2013,
reflecting higher production primarily in our North America truck market partially offset by lower commercial truck
production in South America and a step down in our FMTYV program. North America industry-wide production
volumes for heavy-duty trucks increased 16% in fiscal year 2014 as compared to fiscal year 2013. In addition, we
experienced slightly higher sales in Europe in fiscal year 2014 compared to the prior fiscal year driven by sales in
advance of Europe's implementation of the new commercial truck emission standards in January 2014. Sales in South
America declined in fiscal year 2014 compared to fiscal year 2013 due to macro-economic conditions in the region.
Foreign currency exchange rates, primarily the depreciation of the Brazilian real, unfavorably impacted sales by $41
million compared to the prior fiscal year.

Aftermarket & Trailer sales were $920 million in fiscal year 2014, up 6 percent from fiscal year 2013. The increase
was primarily due to higher revenue across all parts of the segment.

Cost of Sales and Gross Profit

Cost of sales primarily represents materials, labor and overhead production costs associated with the company’s
products and production facilities. Cost of sales for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2014 was $3,279 million
compared to $3,277 million in the prior year. Total cost of sales was approximately 87.1 percent of sales for the fiscal
year ended September 30, 2014 compared to approximately 89.2 percent for the prior fiscal year.

The following table summarizes significant factors contributing to the changes in costs of sales during fiscal year 2014
compared to the prior fiscal year (in millions):

Cost of Sales
Fiscal year ended September 30, 2013 $3,277
Volumes, mix and other, net 34
Foreign exchange (32 )
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38

$3,279
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Changes in the components of cost of sales year over year are summarized as follows (in millions):

Higher material costs $65

Lower labor and overhead costs (26 )
Other, net (37 )
Total increase in costs of sales $2

Material costs represent the majority of our cost of sales and include raw materials, composed primarily of steel and
purchased components. Material costs increased by $65 million compared to the prior fiscal year primarily as a result
of higher volume partially offset by material cost savings and movement in foreign currency rates, primarily the
depreciation of the Brazilian real.

Labor and overhead costs decreased by $26 million compared to the prior fiscal year. The decrease was primarily due
to a specific warranty contingency recorded in fiscal year 2013 that was substantially reversed in fiscal year 2014,
savings associated with labor and burden cost reduction programs and by movement in foreign currency rates,
primarily the depreciation of the Brazilian real.

Other, net decreased by $37 million compared to the prior fiscal year. The decrease was